

Climate Crisis and the Human Factor: 10 Psychological Keys to Unlocking Climate Action

Opinion paper

Climate Crisis and the Human Factor: 10 Psychological Keys to Unlocking Climate Action

Opinion paper of the EFPA's Expert Reference Group for Psychology and Climate Change

Approved by the Board of Directors of the European Federation of Psychologists' Associations May 2024

Editorial team: Weronika Kałwak, Bjørn Ekelund, Nicola Gale, Felix Peter, Sara Wortelboer

List of contributors: Csilla Ágoston-Kostyál, Eric Alderhorn, Nicholas Carr, Bjørn Ekelund, Nicola Gale, Weronika Kałwak, Tiago Pereira, Felix Peter, Attila Varga, Sara Wortelboer

Reviewers: EFPA's Expert Reference Group for Psychology and Climate Change thanks the following reviewers who provided valuable feedback on drafts of this report: Caterina Arcidiacono, Nicolas Carr, Irina Feygina, Minou Mebane, Bernd Röhrle

Ochiew/Adobe.com

Contents

1.	Abstract
2.	Keywords
3.	Executive Summary
4.	Introduction
4.	1 Psychology and Global Climate Change7
4.	2 The Socio-Ecological Model8
4.	3 The Individual and the System
5.	Roadmap: 10 Psychological Keys11
I.	Starting Point: Sustainability as a New Base
i.	Benefits of Sustainable Lifestyles
ii.	Challenges in Adopting Sustainable Lifestyles13
П.	From Theory to Application: Sustainable Transformation is Necessary but also Challenging 14
i.	Adaptation and Transformation14
ii.	Challenges of Individual-Focused Interventions14
III.	The Importance of Collective Efficacy: Making a Difference Together
i.	A Model of Pro-Environmental Action17
IV.	Individual Actions in a Collective Context: Emotions as Important Drivers
i.	Beyond Cognitive Attitudes
ii.	The Role of Climate Emotions in Environmental Action20
iii	. Emotions in the Foreground: The 'Emotional Turn'
V.	From Emotion to Well-Being: Mental Health and Resilience in the Climate Crisis
i.	Impact of Climate Change on Mental Health23
ii.	Global and Regional Polycrisis and Mental Health Vulnerability24
iii	. Climate Change and Resilience25
VI.	Transformative Collectives: Pro-Environmental Behavior in a Community Context
i.	Overcoming Pluralistic Ignorance27
ii.	Community Engagement
VII.	Corporate Conscience: Pro-Environmental Behavior in an Organizational Context
i.	Environmental Responsibility29
ii.	The Particular Role of Educational Institutions
VIII.	Advocating Change: Psychological Strategies for Shaping Effective Climate Policy
i.	The Role of Psychology in Political Advocacy31
ii.	Integrating Psychological Insights into Policy

IX.	Conveying Change: Psychological Insights into Climate Change Communication	34
i.	Climate Change Communication as a Complex Task	34
ii.	The Channel	35
iii	i. The Sender	35
iv	7. The Message	36
v.	The Receiver	
vi	i. Concerning Efficacy	37
Х.	Collective Responsibility: Towards a Sustainable and Resilient Society	
6.	References	41

1. Abstract

Anthropogenic global climate change and its disruptive impact on ecosystems and communities around the world are subjects of widespread scientific consensus. The European Federation of Psychologists' Associations (EFPA) has made climate change one of its priorities. In this opinion paper, the EFPA Expert Reference Group for Psychology and Climate Change addresses what they consider to be the ten most important issues in the field of psychology and climate change, highlighting the role of psychology in mitigating and adapting to the climate crisis. The socioecological model is presented as an approach effectively encompassing various determinants of proenvironmental behavior, engagement in climate action, and climate change-related mental health at the individual, social, organizational, and systemic levels. Sustainability serves as the general framework for understanding the role of psychology. While sustainable transformation is necessary, it may be challenging due to psychological and systemic barriers. These barriers can be overcome through collective actions and building collective efficacy. Diverse emotions play an important role in shaping individual and collective behaviors related to climate change; they contribute to both resilience and the deterioration of mental health at the individual and community levels. In addition to internal mental processes, institutional, organizational and social mechanisms foster sustainable practices. Institutional, organizational, and societal mechanisms, alongside internal psychological processes, foster sustainable practices. Psychological research on these mechanisms and processes should inform strategies at the level of policy-making and environmental communication that are critical to shaping public perception and behavior. A unified approach to psychological research and practice across individual, societal, organizational, and systemic levels is needed for a resilient response to climate and associated societal challenges.

2. Keywords

climate change; climate crisis; climate action; climate resilience; pro-environmental behavior; mental health and well-being; psychology

3. Executive Summary

Psychology as the study of mind and behavior has a role to play in the field of climate change, where individual behavior in its socio-ecological context can make a substantial contribution. This document aims to describe with relevant points how psychological expertise can contribute to mitigating and adapting to the climate crisis, at different levels of influence. It was developed in collaboration between European academics, independent practitioners, under the auspices of European psychology organizations, and represents at a time empirical evidence and professional experiences.

I. Sustainability as a New Base. The pursuit of sustainability challenges traditional materialistic views of success and happiness, suggesting that greater well-being can be achieved through environmentally-friendly and less consumer-driven lifestyles. This shift requires a significant psychological and cultural adaptation, moving away from consumption-focused values towards a more sustainable approach to living.

II. Sustainable Transformation. Tackling the climate crisis involves balancing individual stress and participation in societal change. Psychology aids in navigating this by considering climate justice and individual differences. Personalized, appropriately paced behavior change within a broader societal context is key. However, focusing only on individual actions may neglect necessary systemic changes. Effective climate strategies should be sustainable, science-driven, and community-based.

III. Collective Efficacy. In confronting global crises, collective action is crucial. Working together in families, teams, and communities is more effective for coping with stress and adapting to change. Collective efficacy is key in environmental actions, influencing individual action and enhancing faith in community-driven change. This group-based approach, stronger than self-efficacy, motivates pro-environmental behavior and policy acceptance, showing that shared experiences and group norms are more impactful than mere information or persuasion in driving behavioral change.

IV. Emotions as Drivers for Action. In climate change psychology, the focus is shifting from being solely on cognitive attitudes to also include emotional responses in influencing pro-environmental behaviors. Emotions like eco-anxiety play a complex role in motivating action; they can be both adaptive and counterproductive. The 'emotional turn' in environmental communication acknowledges emotions as key drivers but caution is necessary, taking into account their potential negative impacts on mental well-being and the risk of over-relying on emotional appeals for inducing pro-environmental actions.

V. Mental Health and Resilience. The impact of climate change on mental health includes both direct effects, like heat-related stress, and indirect effects from natural disasters and socio-political pressures. In this context, emotions extend beyond motivating climate action to significantly impacting mental health and well-being. Negative emotions like eco-anxiety, although common in environmental concern, can contribute to mental health challenges, particularly for vulnerable groups. Addressing direct and indirect mental health effects requires recognizing the variety of affected groups and fostering resilience, both individually and within communities, to adapt to climate-related stressors effectively.

VI. Pro-Environmental Behavior in a Community Context. To mitigate climate change effectively, emphasis should be placed on high-impact pro-environmental behaviors within communities, targeting those most active in areas like transport, diet, consumption of goods and energy use. Overcoming barriers such as lack of awareness and structural challenges is crucial, and community-level interventions can harness social norms and values to propagate pro-environmental behaviors. This collective approach not only fosters individual and group resilience but also addresses ethical concerns related to global inequalities and the responsibilities of wealthier nations.

VII. Pro-Environmental Behavior in an Organizational Context. Organizations, including public, commercial, and NGOs, significantly shape pro-environmental behavior through both internal policies and public engagement. By embedding environmental values into their operations and communications, such as performance indicators and annual reports, they promote sustainable practices among employees and the wider public. Their role extends beyond influencing behaviors to actual CO₂ emissions reduction, requiring transparency and accountability to build trust and avoid greenwashing. These organizational efforts support broader systemic changes necessary for effective climate action.

VIII. Climate Policy. Psychology's role in shaping pro-environmental public policies is vital as policy moves beyond individual behavior changes to address systemic and political actions necessary for carbon neutrality. Psychologists bring insights from political psychology to influence policy design and implementation at various levels. Their involvement includes political advocacy, enhancing trust and hope in political processes, and ensuring policies are informed by an understanding of social dynamics and human behavior. This broader application of psychological principles helps empower communities, foster public engagement in environmental actions, and supports sustainable policy development.

IX. Climate Change Communication. Climate change communication aims to shift behaviors and foster societal engagement in sustainability through psychologically informed strategies. Effective communication requires more than just information delivery; it involves engaging in dialogues, strategic messaging, and visible examples of sustainable behaviors to establish new social norms. This approach leverages psychological insights to create messages that resonate with diverse values and motivations, using framing techniques to highlight the personal and collective benefits of environmental actions. The goal is to empower communities, enhance participation, and promote a broader commitment to environmental stewardship as well as improving efficacy of proenvironmental action.

X. Collective Responsibility. Broadening the scope of psychology in climate action is critical, emphasizing the need to move beyond influencing individual behavior to impacting collective efforts and systemic changes. Psychology must engage with community actions and target decision-makers and economic leaders who possess the capability to implement transformative, large-scale environmental reforms efficiently. This shift is essential for achieving substantial and effective solutions to climate as well as other socio-ecological challenges.

GLOSSARY: EFPA Expert Reference Group. (2023). Climate Change and Psychology Glossary. European Federation of Psychologists' Associations (EFPA).

https://www.efpa.eu/sites/default/files/2023-06/efpa-expert-reference-group-climate-change-andpsychology-glossary_may-2023.pdf

4. Introduction

4.1 Psychology and Global Climate Change

An anthropogenic global climate change and its disruptive impact on ecosystems and communities around the world is subject to a widespread scientific consensus (IPCC, 2022). Global warming and related loss of biodiversity indicate a threat to environment, society, economy, geopolitics, and human health. Therefore, they are often called the climate crisis or the climate emergency to emphasize an urgency of the issue (Arias et al., 2021; Cardinale et al., 2012). They are the most pressing examples of socio-ecological crises (Future Earth, 2021; World Economic Forum, 2022).

The way of describing climate change linguistically is considered important, but it is also a matter of debate: a descriptive term of *climate change* or *global warming* tends to be criticized for leaving a space for perception of global warming as neutral or even beneficial. *Climate crisis* and *climate emergency* are free from this flaw but raise other controversies: *crisis* suggests a relatively short-time extreme situation, whereas the problem has been going on since the 1970s (Dunlap, 2013). Framing it as *climate emergency* is, in turn, suspected to undermine climate justice in the context of policymaking (Osborne & Carlson, 2023).

In contemporary understanding, crisis can also be understood as a longer critical period in the face of a significant threat. Especially from a psychological perspective, the experience of crisis is also an important indicator for the presence of a crisis. And this crisis perception has shaped public and political debates since the emergence of the recent climate movement and the increasing media coverage of global, sometimes catastrophic, weather phenomena that have been linked to global warming. Climate change has in fact already led to disasters in many places and threatens to bring the entire world community into a global (health) emergency (Abbasi et al., 2023). In our paper, we thus use the terms climate crisis and climate emergency interchangeably; while psychology may lack perfect terminological solutions, the discipline needs to recognize the relevance of language when addressing these issues (Shome & Marx, 2009).

The climate crisis contributes to the global cumulative crisis with pandemics, armed and civil conflicts, crisis of migration and refugees, and economic crisis, all creating immense challenges for individuals, communities, and society (Lawrence et al., 2022). The urgency and complexity of the threats posed by climate change are leading to many different academic and practical disciplines working to understand the climate emergency and define the actions needed to mitigate it (i.e., to prevent further environmental degradation caused by the climate change); and adapt to those irreversible natural and social consequences that cannot be prevented anymore. Reducing greenhouse gas emissions is central to stopping further climate change (IPCC, 2022), however, it is not only a matter for natural science and technology. Efforts on the side of medical science, behavioral science, social science, and humanities are also needed to understand our abilities to introduce and sustain necessary changes, and our vulnerabilities in the face of the climate threat. Therefore, although in this paper we focus on the particular task of psychology in relation to climate change and crisis, we call to promote a cross disciplinary approach in investigating and educating about climate issues.

Psychology participates in the task of mitigation of and adaptation to global climate change, just like it has contributed and should continue to contribute to maintaining democracy, peace, equality, and justice. Climate responsibility may be ascribed to psychology as an academic discipline (including universities being the institutions able to introduce and model the necessary changes), as a field of practice (e.g., dealing with the mental health consequences) and policymaking (e.g., with organizational psychology supporting companies and institutions like schools or universities in creating sustainable organizational culture and leadership), as well as to the actions and attitudes of psychologists as individual citizens. The reason for this is that psychology may have the tools for fueling the necessary urgent actions, for addressing challenges to take the actions, and for supporting people in building their resilience (e.g., APA Task Force on Climate Change, 2022).

The European Federation of Psychologists' Associations (EFPA) made climate change one of its priority actions and a focus for the goals of EFPA's working groups. Therefore, in 2021 it formed the *Expert Reference Group for Psychology and Climate Change*, comprising European experts with research track records and professional knowledge in psychology and climate change. The composition and focus of the group has ensured that contributions are based on evidence and indepth reflection. This paper is a result of ongoing discussions and a literature review grounded in the varied academic expertise in the field that has been conducted by the group. It has been consulted with a community of psychologists during a workshop organized at the European Congress of Psychology held in Brighton, United Kingdom, in July 2023. Results of the consultation were included in the paper and supplemented by further literature analysis. In a second consultation round, further peer feedback has been obtained. In this paper, the expert reference group shares their choice of the most important issues in the field of psychology and climate change with the broader community of psychologists and has set out to develop an informed opinion on how psychology should address the challenges arising from the climate emergency.

4.2 The Socio-Ecological Model

Human individual, social, and organizational behavior is related to climate change in many ways, in particular human health and wellbeing is impacted by the climate emergency. This is in line with the *Socio-Ecological Model* that has been applied to various types of behaviors and health determinants (Dahlgren & Whitehead, 2021), including pro-environmental behavior and the impact of climate change on mental health and emotional well-being (e.g., Lawrance et al, 2022; Patrick et al, 2022). Psychological expertise from various sub-disciplines (e.g., clinical and health psychology, social psychology, neuropsychology etc.) and at all levels (micro, meso, macro; individual, social, organizational) should be applied to understand climate change and its critical consequences for individuals and society, as well as supporting a sustainable and just environmental transition (Brutzman et al., 2022).

The individual stands at the core of the Socio-Ecological Model, but the model assumes bi-directional relations between all levels (Dahlgren & Whitehead, 2021). Thus, changes could be initiated by individuals as well as organizations, communities or introduced at the policy level (O'Brien & Sygna, 2013; Stadelmann-Steffen et al., 2021). For example, a policy measure like imposing an air tax for short flights, will impact the organizational level (e.g., a company may decide that it is more cost efficient to take trains for short trips and impose this on their employees), social or community level (e.g., peer pressure of choosing sustainable means of transport), and eventually at individual level (e.g., changing a person's attitudes towards air travel for short distances). At the individual level or the level of psychological practice, we may focus on changing behavior of a person, but it is influenced by factors at other levels as well, for example political, economic, and cultural factors (e.g., economic or cultural opportunity for certain behaviors, like substituting meat by high-quality plant-based proteins). However, the individual influences the system as well: in democracies,

policymakers need to be sensitive to the will of citizens if they aim to stay in power. Industry and its executives are responsive to consumer demands. If individuals and families were to purchase only environmental-friendly products (*green products*), the market would need to follow in order to stay in business. And of course, policymakers or company leaders are also individuals influencing systems, besides their official roles.

Since industry often attempts to influence and co-create demands and needs of consumers, the regulatory power of policymaking is often required to foster sustainable values in society. However, affordability of green products for a great part of the population seems to be a condition for consumer choices to impact the industry and market, and the environment as a result. It is reasonable to recognize economic factors, not only psychological and social factors, as decisive for people's behavior. Behavior is therefore inevitably linked to the context of economic system. Especially growth-oriented market processes and economic inequalities, which are highly responsible for the climate emergency, shape people's behavioral repertoire as well and may create challenges to mass adoption of pro-environmental behaviors.

Thus, these factors need to be included in psychological understanding of human (un)sustainable behavior and in designing sustainable behavioral change, particularly when climate justice is regarded as a leading value of mitigation and adaptation efforts. Even the most noble and environmentally beneficial recommendations, directed at individuals and communities that cannot afford implementing them, may result in helplessness, psychological burden, or resistance toward the pro-environmental change.

4.3 The Individual and the System

Psychology as a discipline of academic research and evidence-based practice and intervention is usually thought of as dealing with individuals at various levels (i.e., their intrapersonal mechanisms, individual traits, interpersonal relationships, their systemic co-dependencies in family, in organization, in community). While systemic, social, cultural issues are frequently addressed, an individual person seems to remain the basic unit of psychological knowledge. However, psychological research is broad with diverse sub-disciplines. There are differences in approach among these subdisciplines and professional psychologists related to the extent to which the human condition and human functioning are determined by individual, social, systemic, or cultural factors. As a consequence, there are differences in how the role of individual determinants is perceived in building psychological theory, knowledge, and expertise. Importantly, these differences remain unresolved since they are rather a matter of various basic assumptions in psychology sub-disciplines, than a matter of empirical evidence. These differences are clearly visible in the emerging field of the psychology of climate change, where we may encounter constant tension between individual and systemic approaches (the former are then criticized as erroneous individualization, and the latter as inappropriate politicization of psychological knowledge).

In the context of climate change, when psychology is subject to criticism for excessively individualizing and naturalizing phenomena of a socio-political and cultural character, it is usually considered part of the problem (since it is believed to implicitly legitimize and consolidate the status quo that has contributed to the climate crisis, among other contemporary adverse socio-political phenomena) (Riley et al., 2018). Regardless of whether this criticism is found plausible by an individual psychologist or within a particular sub-discipline, psychology presently bears significant responsibility for contributing to mitigation of and adaptation to the climate crisis, and this may also

require critical reflection and re-thinking of some established key psychological concepts (Kałwak & Weihgold, 2022; Parker, 2007; Riley et al., 2018; Uzzel, 2008).

For example, clinical psychology usually looks at an individual and their intrapersonal psychopathological processes to diagnose and treat mental health difficulties, whereas community psychology sees mental health as an issue of the person's environment and the various resources to which they do or do not have access. While the coexistence of individual and environmental factors is generally believed to be responsible for good and worse mental health, clinical psychology and community psychology differ in what is emphasized (Kagan et al., 2022; Kagan et al., 2011). This difference of basic assumptions about the aetiology of worsened psychological condition is vividly present in the discussion on mental health and climate change. It usually includes a recognition of increasingly worse mental health of people and observing new psychological syndromes arising from the impact of the climate emergency on the one side; and on the other side, a critique of individualizing and medicalizing the systemic issue of environmental degradation (Adams, 2021; Burke & Cunsolo WIllox, 2014; Clayton & Karazsia, 2020; Kalwak & Weihgold, 2022).

Similarly, it is often discussed if the necessary pro-environmental change should or should not be constructed in psychological expertise as a responsibility of individuals, while global systemic changes seem to be necessary for an effective transition. This tension between individual vs. contextual (systemic) determinants of human experience, action and behavior is especially visible in the emerging field of the psychology of climate change, which is concerned with sustainable transformation necessary for adaptation to and mitigation of the environmental crisis (Chater & Loewenstein, 2023; Fritze et al., 2008; O'Brien & Sygna, 2013).

To what extent can we understand an individual as responsible for pro-environmental change? Is it justified and just to rely on individual resilience, or should we focus on community resilience when dealing with climate change's impact on mental health? Can policymakers, governments, and big enterprises be exclusively burdened with the necessary changes, or would the changes not happen without engagement of individuals? Should psychology continue to focus on determinants of individual behavioral change toward reducing carbon footprint, or should it rather work for political mobilization among citizens?

As authors of this paper, we have experienced lively discussions and the diversity of professional informed opinions concerning the individual and systemic psychological aspects of the climate crisis; this diversity was also present during the workshop in Brighton in 2023, and it may be visible in this document. While we believe that variety of informed opinions, and sometimes discrepancies in existing evidence, may result from the diversity of basic assumptions in the discipline of psychology, collective reflexivity and transparent discussion about them are crucial to the process of building knowledge and putting knowledge into practice for a psychology that genuinely addresses climate issues.

5. Roadmap: 10 Psychological Keys

In summary, this paper explores the critical intersections of psychology and climate change, structured around ten key topics that collectively advance our understanding of how psychological insights can drive effective climate action. We begin by framing sustainability within a psychological context to provide the foundation for understanding the subsequent themes (Topic 1). Next, we discuss the necessary yet challenging aspects of sustainable transformation, examining psychological barriers that get in the way of such transformations (Topic 2) and setting the stage for the discussion on collective efficacy, which highlights the power of collective actions in overcoming these obstacles (Topic 3).

As we go deeper, we explore the emotional dimensions (Topic 4) and mental health implications of climate change (Topic 5), respectively, demonstrating how these affect and are affected by individual and collective behaviors.

The following sections take the discussion from internal psychological processes to more institutional and societal issues, showing how communities (Topic 6) and organizations (Topic 7) can use psychological principles to foster sustainable practices. Further, we expand the scope to policy-making, emphasizing how psychological research informs strategies at the political level (Topic 8), before we examine the communication challenges that are critical to shaping public perception and behavior (Topic 9).

The final chapter briefly synthesizes the insights from all sections, advocating a unified approach that leverages psychological principles for a resilient societal response to climate challenges (Topic 10).

In short: Psychology as the study of mind and behavior has a role to play in the field of climate change, where individual behavior in its socio-ecological context can make a substantial contribution. This document aims to describe with relevant points how psychological expertise can contribute to mitigating and adapting to the climate crisis, at different levels of influence. It was developed in collaboration between European academics, independent practitioners, under the auspices of European psychology organizations, and represents at a time empirical evidence and professional experiences.

I. Starting Point: Sustainability as a New Base

Main message: The pursuit of sustainability challenges traditional materialistic views of success and happiness, suggesting that greater well-being can be achieved through environmentally-friendly and less consumer-driven lifestyles. This shift requires a significant psychological and cultural adaptation, moving away from consumption-focused values towards a more sustainable approach to living.

The concept of *sustainability* carries some basic psychological messages, which seemingly contradict mainstream thinking about the modern concept of success and happiness. The very reason why sustainability is being set as a global goal is that there is growing evidence that the ways in which societies are currently trying to ensure human progress and the greatest possible level of human happiness are unsustainable in the long run. That's why environmental messages tend to be about giving up something, like the suggestion that we cannot afford to travel by plane, to use cars and to eat meat at the rate we do today if our goal is to live sustainably (Siegmar et al., 2014).

i. Benefits of Sustainable Lifestyles

From a psychological perspective, the important question is whether, for human health, well-being, and happiness, we need the focus on consumption as it is today. There is a standpoint, supported by evidence, that material wealth and happiness or well-being are not entirely bonded (Dittmar et al., 2014; Ferrer-i-Carbonell, 2005; Kahneman et al., 2006; Kasser et al., 2014). Worldviews focused on material wealth may even be connected to a lower level of happiness and well-being. While a certain level of material wealth is needed for a dignified life, modern societies may be seen as dangerously obsessed with material growth. The danger not only lies in the negative impact on the environment, but it also has an impact on the well-being of individuals (e.g., air-pollution or burn-outs under the extreme work pressure) (Brown & Kasser, 2005; Kang et al., 2021; O'Mahony, 2022). In some cases, this leads to a desire to regress or adapt intensive measures, which is reflected in the ideas emerging in the context of sustainability, such as 'de-growth', 'voluntary simplicity' or 'back to the past' (Alexander & Ussher, 2012; Brown & Kasser, 2005). Another sign of this desire or interest is the increasing number of attempts to present evidence on the positive impact of *sustainable lifestyles*, valuing and caring for nature for the mental health and well-being (Capstick et al., 2022; Hickel et al., 2022; Kang et al., 2021; Lampert at al., 2021; O'Mahony, 2022; Zawadzki et al., 2020).

Furthermore, there is also evidence showing that the sense of taking meaningful actions and contributing to the well-being of the planet as a whole, contributes to subjective happiness (Csíkszentmihályi, 2004). It can be explained, for example, by the mechanisms of hedonic (i.e., pleasure attainment and pain avoidance) vs. eudemonic (i.e., finding meaning and self-realization) well-being (Ryan & Deci, 2001). Taufik et al. (2015) found that acting in an environmentally friendly way can be psychologically rewarding, suggesting that appealing to intrinsic rewards, in the form of positive feelings, a phenomenon known as warm glow, can be an effective way to encourage proenvironmental actions. In the field of health studies, the term *planetary health* has been coined in order to offer an understanding of human health (i.e., mental health) and well-being as being dependent on healthy natural systems of our planet (e.g., Horton & Lo, 2015).

It is therefore safe to say that there is a great potential for psychologists to help transform the public mindset into a more sustainable one. By emphasizing that a sustainable lifestyle could bring just as much happiness (focusing on eudemonic well-being) – if not more – as an unsustainable drive to accumulate material wealth and increase our consumption (focusing on hedonic well-being). People

could find more happiness and well-being in sustainable lifestyles focusing on family values, intellectual development, aesthetic experience, a healthy nature and environment, strong social connections, and contribution to the sustainable development of the local community (Stoknes & Rockström, 2018).

ii. Challenges in Adopting Sustainable Lifestyles

While a sustainable lifestyle may promise an increase in happiness, well-being, and health, the potential to implement such a scenario depends on the biography, socialization, the nearest social environment, and broader cultural background of a particular individual. Since economic growth, accumulation of wealth, and consumption have often constituted socialization in Western societies, attempts to pursue the sustainable transformation in this context may result in interpersonal conflicts, risk of social criticism or rejection, as well as it may be related to intra-personal experience of conflicting values, motivations, and destabilized identity. Open social discussion may support people in accepting and coping with the conflicts in this potentially challenging process of lifestyle transformation. This discussion, in turn, may inform psychological practice of counseling and psychotherapy in order to support those individuals who struggle to cope (Bednarek, 2021; Budziszewska & Jonsson, 2021).

At the same time, it is important to remember that ideas of sustainable transformation, often promoted by wealthier Western countries as a path to well-being and happiness, may not be universally acceptable. For nations and communities striving to overcome poverty, economic growth is seen as essential for achieving well-being. Therefore, addressing these differences in perspective is crucial for promoting equity on a global scale, which is a fundamental aspect of climate justice.

TAKEAWAYS

Redefining Well-being: Psychological research suggests that happiness and well-being are not solely dependent on material wealth; sustainable lifestyles can offer greater fulfillment.

Cultural and Psychological Shifts: Transitioning to sustainability requires significant changes in mindset and cultural norms, particularly in societies accustomed to consumerism.

Role of Psychology: Psychologists play a crucial role in helping individuals and communities navigate the shift towards sustainable living, balancing environmental consciousness with personal and societal well-being.

HAVING ESTABLISHED A BASIC UNDERSTANDING OF SUSTAINABILITY FROM A PSYCHOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE, WE NEXT LOOK AT THE PSYCHOLOGICAL BARRIERS AND COMPLEXITIES THAT CHALLENGE THE NECESSARY SHIFT TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY.

II. From Theory to Application: Sustainable Transformation is Necessary but also Challenging

Main message: Tackling the climate crisis involves balancing individual stress and participation in societal change. Psychology aids in navigating this by considering climate justice and individual differences. Personalized, appropriately paced behavior change within a broader societal context is key. However, focusing only on individual actions may neglect necessary systemic changes. Effective climate strategies should be sustainable, science-driven, and community-based.

From a social psychology and health perspective, a prescription for individuals to act proenvironmentally in the context of permanent socio-ecological crises, such as the climate crisis, should include a complex understanding of determinants of the transformation and the individual action. It entails knowing that living in a time of crisis is already demanding, and simultaneously participating in the attempts to transform our ways of living may add up to a burden.

i. Adaptation and Transformation

Part of the character of the current socio-ecological crises is that they have reached a global scale and will continue for a long time. If the underlying causes are not addressed, there will be no end to them on a human scale. On the contrary, they will continue to escalate (Homer-Dixon et al., 2022; Steffen et al., 2018) and to expose individuals to permanent ecological and societal stress. However, stress and burden results too from the attempts to conduct the necessary transformation, since they require an extensive use of various resources (that are scarce anyway) and a change of established cultural and social ways of living, habitual actions, and fixed attitudes (Mazar et al., 2021).

To sum up, people and communities need to

- *cope* with acute and chronic stressors resulting from the climate change and environmental degradation (e.g., extreme weather events or mass migration; Fritze et al., 2008; Lawrence at al., 2022; Ojala, 2013);
- deal with necessary *adaptations* to irreversible changes (Kates et al., 2012);
- participate in and deal with an urgent sustainable *transformation* of society and economy to mitigate the crises (Wullenkord & Hamann, 2021).

The success of the task of transformation seems to depend on making sure that the coping and adaptation capacities of individuals, communities and societies do not fail in the long term (Juhola et al., 2022). Psychology can help in designing the process of transformation to protect our adaptation capacities, with a concern for climate justice (see e.g. Majumdar & Weber, 2022). It means a consideration of various vulnerabilities and multidimensional approach to *climate resilience* (e.g. Behrens et al., 2022; Doppelt, 2017; Lonzano Nasi et al., 2023; Wilson et al., 2020), including the issues of ethnicity and race, social and economic class, global economic inequalities. (Amorim-Maia et al., 2022).

ii. Challenges of Individual-Focused Interventions

Focusing on the individual level, addressing climate change requires targeted and appropriately paced behavior change, as attempting multiple changes at once often fails. Self-regulation theories suggest setting personally relevant goals and using techniques like action plans and implementation

intentions for effective change. This approach involves choosing actions based on individual priorities, increasing the likelihood of success. Kurz et al. (2015) emphasize that changing climate-relevant actions requires understanding both individual cognitive processes and broader societal patterns. They advocate for a dual approach: addressing individual behaviors through cognitive interventions (e.g., choosing actions based on individual priorities, designing and implementation of action and coping plans), while also considering the societal context that shapes and maintains these behaviors.

A trap that could wipe out the positive environmental effect of any pro-environmental behavior is the well-documented *Jevons paradox*, which describes the phenomenon that changing to less polluting behavior could lead to the more frequent occurrence of the particular behavior, and so could lead to the same or even higher level of environmental pollution (e.g. higher energy efficiency leads to more intense use of energy even on national level; York & McGee, 2016; see also *rebound effect*, Galvin et al., 2021). Therefore, a crucial message should be to emphasize frugality and sufficiency and pay attention to the total of environmental impacts of individuals and not use proenvironmental changes as an excuse to continue or even increase other environmentally harmful behaviors. In this context, it is important overall that climate protection measures are no longer implemented using approaches that are actually ineffective, neither regarding individual behavior, nor with respect to collective or systemic measures, nor concerning the communication of climate protection efforts (*efficacy simulations*) (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024).

While psychology has a wealth of evidence-based expertise on how to implement behavioral change effectively and motivate people to get involved in climate action, the strong focus on individual action in the discipline is also subject to criticism. When looking at the individual level, it must be considered that individuals' abilities to act and bring about change do not depend only on the motivation and attitudes, but they vary with individuals' differential access to resources and with other social, economic and historical determinants. Financial resources, power, and influence are unequally distributed in all societies, therefore those individuals and societies with more political and economic power have greater responsibility (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024; Nielsen, Clayton et al., 2021).

There is a risk that focusing on individual behavioral changes in the wider population in terms of reducing the ecological footprint, will not lead to the timely and significant change that is needed to mitigate the climate emergency and could even distract from the necessary systemic transformations (Otto et al., 2020). Furthermore, the construction of social requirements and ethical norms (using psychological expertise and popular messages) for individual change that are perceived as unrealistic, unjust or impossible to fulfill by a significant proportion of society can create resistance to climate action in general and undermine much-needed social consent. Moreover, effective environmental protection also requires large-scale changes across economic and social sectors. Thus, it is important (1) that there is a political and moral demand for climate action on the side of society, and the corresponding large-scale changes are seen by people as the right thing to do, (2) that the changes are made possible by those with political and economic responsibility, and (3) that the population is involved in a way that keeps resistance and skepticism towards these changes to a minimum (e.g. Kapeller & Jäger, 2020; Otto et al., 2020; Stadelmann-Steffen et al., 2021).

Finally, specific actions to deal with the socio-ecological crises should above all meet the following criteria:

- 1. They should follow a sustainable approach (without being limited to a specific topic such as climate or biodiversity, as social and economic issues are also important).
- 2. They should focus on science-based high-impact behaviors (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024; Nielsen, Cologna et al., 2021), whether they are behaviors to reduce the ecological footprint or to co-create sustainable beneficial societal change in the constructive sense of *the ecological handprint* (Guillaume et al., 2020).
- 3. They should be embedded in a specific community context.

TAKEAWAYS

Complexity of Response: Addressing the climate crisis requires understanding and balancing individual and societal challenges, including coping with environmental stress at the one hand and participating in transformative actions at the other.

Behavior Change Strategy: Effective climate action involves personalized, appropriately paced behavior change, with a focus on sustainable, science-based solutions that are rooted in community contexts.

Role of Psychology: Psychologists play a vital role in guiding individuals and communities through ecological stress, advocating for systemic changes, and integrating climate justice into their practices.

UNDERSTANDING THE NEED FOR AND CHALLENGES OF SUSTAINABLE CHANGE HIGHLIGHTS THE NECESSITY FOR COLLECTIVE EFFORT. IN THE FOLLOWING, WE WILL THEREFORE LOOK AT HOW COLLECTIVE EFFICACY AND THE POWER OF COLLECTIVE ACTION CAN HELP TO OVERCOME PSYCHOLOGICAL BARRIERS.

III. The Importance of Collective Efficacy: Making a Difference Together

Main message: In confronting global crises, collective action is crucial. Working together in families, teams, and communities is more effective for coping with stress and adapting to change. Collective efficacy is key in environmental actions, influencing individual action and enhancing faith in community-driven change. This group-based approach, stronger than self-efficacy, motivates proenvironmental behavior and policy acceptance, showing that shared experiences and group norms are more impactful than mere information or persuasion in driving behavioral change.

In the face of permanent global crises, it is important for people not to have to act alone. Coping with shared experiences like acute stressors is more effective together, in families, in teams, communities, and organizations. In addition, both adapting to the changing living conditions and shaping societal transformation are tasks of a community. Without the collective perspective, people will neither be sufficiently effective nor have the required impact. Moreover, seeing oneself as an (effective) part of an (effective) collective can help people cope with the magnitude of the crises, strengthening for example *self-efficacy* and *participative efficacy* (Grønhøj, 2006; Hamann & Reese, 2020; Wullenkord & Hamann, 2021;) and thus transformative resilience of individuals and society (Doppelt, 2017; Haldane & Morgan, 2021).

i. A Model of Pro-Environmental Action

The concept of *collective efficacy*, as highlighted in the Social Identity Model of Pro-Environmental Action (SIMPEA) by Fritsche et al. (2018), plays a significant role in environmental actions and attitudes. It underscores the belief in a group's collective power to achieve desired environmental outcomes, influencing individual engagement in pro-environmental actions. This belief in collective efficacy complements individual coping mechanisms, enhancing a person's faith in their community's ability to enact change and foster environmental responsibility. Thus, integrating the understanding of collective efficacy into environmental strategies strengthens both individual and societal resilience against ecological crises.

Beyond the effects on the sense of individual coping, collective efficacy has shown to be a stronger predictor than self-efficacy of people's problem-focused coping and self-reported pro-environmental behavior in collectivistic cultures (Chen, 2015). Perceived collective efficacy has been proven to be associated with pro-environmental intentions (Jugert et al., 2016), climate policy support, activist behavior (Thaker et al, 2019; Wang, 2018) and adaptive behaviors (Pakhmer, 2020). It seems that collective efficacy brings individuals into community practices where sharing of information and experiences can motivate both pro-environmental acts as well as acceptance of relevant policies. The normative effects of belonging to groups and possibilities to experience pro-environmental behavior together are more effective in changing behaviors than information and persuasion (Hornsey et al., 2021; see also Fritsche et al., 2018).

TAKEAWAYS

Collective Action is Crucial: Addressing global crises effectively requires collaborative efforts, as coping with stress and adapting to changes are more successful in collective settings like families, communities, and organizations.

Importance of Collective Efficacy: The SIMPEA model highlights that believing in the collective power of groups to drive environmental change, enhances individual participation in pro-environmental action, complementing personal coping mechanisms.

Impact beyond Individual Efforts: Collective efficacy, being a stronger motivator than individual selfefficacy, encourages shared environmental practices and policy support, emphasizing the power of community norms and shared experiences over simple information dissemination.

ALTHOUGH THE FOCUS IS ON COLLECTIVE ACTION AND ITS EFFECTIVENESS, INDIVIDUAL EMOTIONAL RESPONSES ALSO HAVE A MAJOR IMPACT ON SUCH EFFORTS. WE WILL THEREFORE DISCUSS IN THE NEXT SECTION HOW EMOTIONS CAN BOTH MOTIVATE AND HINDER THE REALIZATION OF CLIMATE MITIGATION GOALS BY BUILDING A BRIDGE BETWEEN COLLECTIVE ACTION AND PERSONAL EMOTIONAL DRIVERS.

IV. Individual Actions in a Collective Context: Emotions as Important Drivers

Main message: In climate change psychology, the focus is shifting from being solely on cognitive attitudes to also include emotional responses in influencing pro-environmental behaviors. Emotions like eco-anxiety play a complex role in motivating action; they can be both adaptive and counterproductive. The 'emotional turn' in environmental communication acknowledges emotions as key drivers but caution is necessary, taking into account their potential negative impacts on mental well-being and the risk of over-relying on emotional appeals for inducing pro-environmental actions.

Academic literature in psychology of climate change focuses on the psychological and social determinants of reducing CO₂ emissions and preventing further environmental damage, specifically on development and implementation of effective individual and socio-political measures supporting the mitigation of climate change (Bernard, 2019; Stern, 2011). As systemic solutions and mass social and political support for pro-environmental policies are needed, researchers are also looking for determinants of people's engagement in individual pro-environmental behaviors (e.g., decreasing individual carbon footprint by reducing consumption of meat) and collective actions (e.g., environmental activism; Gifford, 2011; Higham et al., 2016; Röhrle, 2024; Rootes et al., 2012; van Zomeren et al., 2008).

i. Beyond Cognitive Attitudes

Traditionally, a cognitive attitude and value orientation addressed with a term "environmental concern" have been investigated as underlying the intentions of an individual to act in a proenvironmentally manner (Gifford & Nilsson, 2014; Stern & Dietz, 1994). However, it has been repeatedly observed that while individuals' beliefs, social norms, and value-based environmental concerns play an important role, they do not fully allow to predict initiating and maintaining proenvironmental actions (Bergquist et al., 2020; Fritsche et al., 2018; Gifford & Nilsson, 2014; Page & Page, 2014; Perry et al., 2021). There is, however, a need for best possible predictions to design effective interventions aimed at motivating people to engage pro-environmentally.

Thus, in search for a more comprehensive picture, researchers are looking for other psychological determinants of pro-environmental activity, referring to basic and bottom-up mechanisms rather than norm-driven attitudes (e.g., perceptual and cognitive determinants, attentional mechanisms, habits, or the individual's level of self-efficacy; Ejelöv et al., 2018; Gifford, 2011; Mazar et al., 2021; Page & Page, 2014; Verplanken, 2012). Among them, affective and emotional responses to the climate crisis are emphasized as major drivers of climate action. As a result of an exceptional importance of emotions in the context of climate emergency, a category of *climate emotions* (or somewhat more broadly *eco-emotions*) has emerged in academic literature (e.g., Clayton, 2020; Neckel & Hasenfrantz, 2021; Pihkala, 2022).

Climate emotions is an umbrella term that incorporates a wide range of responses (i.e., emotional reactions) to climate change, covered by both academic literature and popular media (including social media). While climate emotions are related to emotional states known from all the typical contexts of *feeling* in human life (i.e., to anxiety, guilt and pride, nostalgia etc.), scientists tend to use special words to refer to them in the context of climate emergency (i.e., solastalgia, climate anxiety, eco-guilt, and eco-pride). The reasons are that, firstly, eco-emotions are normal reactions to a permanent, overwhelming, and abnormal situation, which is not comparable to anything typical in human experience; and secondly, we could potentially make use of them to mitigate this abnormal

situation. We therefore emphasize them by these special words in our everyday and academic language, as well as in public environmental communication.

ii. The Role of Climate Emotions in Environmental Action

Emotions are perceived in general as a *source of drive* that may be diverted into action, and as *important evaluative information* that reorients an individual's behavior toward personally relevant issues (e.g., Dennison, 2023). Various types of emotions are addressed in detail as being responsible for (lack of) support for climate policies and (dis)engagement in pro-environmental behaviors or environmental activism. The role of emotions in motivating pro-environmental action has been investigated for several decades; the number of studies significantly increased in recent years, including attempts to prove experimentally the impact of particular emotionally framed messages and other interventions on pro-environmental behavior and support for pro-environmental policies (e.g., Berquist et al., 2020; Ibanez & Roussel, 2021; Lange & Dewitte, 2020; Lohmann et al., 2024; Passyn & Sujan, 2006; Reese et al., 2015). Any exhaustive review or final answer on which emotions are the most effective in fueling pro-environmental behavior are beyond the scope of this paper, due to the large number of published studies, and some inconsistence resulting from them so far (Armbruster et al., 2022; Hurst & Sintov, 2022; Lange & Dewitte, 2020; Russel & Ashkanasy, 2021).

For example, some researchers have emphasized the role of hope, which may motivate people to act by making them believe that their efforts may be successful. However, results on the effects of hope in the context of climate action are ambiguous (e.g., Geiger et al., 2023). Hope can increase support for climate policies among the public. Hope and optimism for the future can also induce the perception of climate change as a more distant threat with less personal relevance, whereas recognizing the risk as highly probable and relevant can enhance motivation to take action (Brosch, 2021; Chu & Yang, 2019; Feldman & Hart, 2018; Fritze et al., 2008; Kleres & Wettergren, 2017; Neckel & Hasenfrantz, 2021; Ojala, 2015). *Constructive hope*, grounded in both realism and active engagement in pursuing goals, has been differentiated from unrealistic optimism in a discussion on climate emotions (Grund & Brock, 2019; Ojala, 2015).

Overall, the most important research question on climate emotions concerns the role of positive vs. negative emotions in fueling pro-environmental actions (e.g., a mobilizing impact of anger for engaging in climate activism or the role of anticipated pride in engaging in everyday proenvironmental behaviors) (Coelho et al., 2017; Hurst & Sintov, 2022; Lange & Dewitte, 2020; Lohmann et al., 2024; Taufik & Venhoeven, 2018). When the role of emotions is discussed, it is related both to those feelings that are actually experienced by (dis)engaged individuals and those that might be purposefully induced by an intervention to shape people's engagement (e.g., through media messages or education). For example, negative and fearful media messages were initially claimed inappropriate and ineffective; however, recent studies show that fear appealing messages accompanied by a perspective for effective action may bring the desired results (Miller, 2021; O'Neill & Nicholson-Cole, 2009; Passyn & Sujan, 2006; Reese & Bamberg, 2015; Sarrina Li & Huang, 2020). On the other hand, scary media messages or educational content are discussed as potentially mentally impairing and disempowering, especially to children and young people (while skillful management of moderate negative emotions in educational contexts may help turn them into positive actions; Gao et al., 2020; Holman et al., 2020; Jones & Davison, 2021; Pihkala, 2020; Sampath et al., 2020). Additionally, some studies bring discouraging results on positive emotional framing and proenvironmental behaviors (Hurst & Sintov, 2022; Lange & Dewitte, 2020). For example, Lohmann et al. (2024) in their experimental research showed no effect of messages based on anticipated positive

emotions of pro-environmental behaviors ('warm glow' effect). The likely ground of this result is that presenting private benefits as overly salient may decrease motivation to act for altruistic individuals (Lohmann et al., 2024). Finally, it was also observed that moderate levels of worrying and anxiety around climate change have an adaptive effect in a sense of motivating pro-environmental behavioral change (Bouman et al, 2020; Kurth & Pihkala, 2022).

Among the negative emotions (im)mobilizing engagement in various pro-environmental actions, social or moral emotions like guilt and shame are often emphasized (e.g., in the context of consumers' behaviors, like shame in relation to flying; Hurst & Sintov, 2022; Miller, 2021; Mkono & Hughes, 2020; Rees et al., 2015; Passyn & Sujan, 2006). Social emotions are investigated next to group values, social norms, social identity, and social influence that were shown to motivate pro-environmental behavior (nevertheless, emotions may remain the most effective; Berquist et al., 2020; Bouman et al., 2020). Pihkala (2022), based on an extensive literature review, offers a taxonomy of climate emotions with such categories as threat-related emotions, social emotions (strongly related to guilt and shame), positive emotions (e.g., empowerment, care), etc.

Many authors in the field of climate emotions focus on the popular concept of eco-anxiety that is usually an umbrella term for various negative climate emotions and states of decreased well-being (e.g., Clayton, 2020; Hickman et al., 2021; Ogunbode et al., 2022; Pihkala, 2020). Eco-anxiety may be considered "practical" and healthy (Kurth & Pihkala, 2022) when it encourages pro-environmental behavior, but its extreme levels are considered a risk for an individual's mental health (Clayton & Karazsia, 2020). The term is therefore rather questionable as too general and inaccurately medicalized, especially as it could mask the independent meaning of other important negative emotions. Anger (eco-anger) is a good example as it is often hijacked by the concept of eco-anxiety, while it has its distinct empowering and constructively political character (e.g., Contreras et al., 2023; Gregersen et al., 2023; Kalwak & Weihgold, 2022; Marczak et al., 2023; Sabherwal et al., 2021; Stanley et al., 2021, 2023).

iii. Emotions in the Foreground: The 'Emotional Turn'

The recent focus on emotions and affects in interdisciplinary environmental studies and in environmental communication is addressed as an 'emotional turn' or 'emotionalization' of the public debate. There are differing opinions among scholars regarding the emotional turn: sometimes it is subject to criticism on the ground that it may jeopardize the aims of environmental protection and climate change communication. On the other hand, emotions are seen as rational and powerful drivers for action and value-based evaluation of the existing situation, and public silencing of emotional responses may be seen as inhibiting the drive for pro-environmental change, especially since the change requires modification of the status quo (Flemming et al., 2018; González-Hidalgo & Zografos, 2020; Lemmings & Brooks, 2014; Leys, 2011; Neckel & Hasenfrantz 2021; Pile, 2010; Staiger et al., 2010; Voşki et al., 2023).

Some policymakers, experts and practitioners in environmental education and communication, and climate activists suggest that specific emotional states and processes should be evoked in a controlled manner to promote engagement of the public in climate action and pro-environmental behaviors (i.e., via positive and negative emotional messages; Flemming et al., 2018; Chu & Yang, 2019), thus they expect scholars to provide evidence on what would be the most effective. Some studies investigate the efficacy of affective education and empowering programs to promote

emotional awareness related to climate change and, as a result, promote pro-environmental behaviors (Mebane et al., 2023).

While there might be divergent opinions among scholars on acceptability of inducing negative emotions through media, political communication, or education, these opinions seem to reflect not only the available evidence, but also ethical dilemmas encountered in our discipline (e.g., biospheric values vs. values related to human well-being). It seems important to recognize what actually works, but also what effects it may have. For example, messages appealing to negative emotions may be effective in shaping pro-environmental action and simultaneously may add to psychological burden, deteriorated well-being and mental health, especially in vulnerable individuals. This calls for carefully tailored interventions and communication (Voşki et al., 2023).

TAKEAWAYS

Emotional Impact: Emotions, especially climate-specific ones like eco-anxiety, are increasingly recognized as vital in motivating pro-environmental behavior, demonstrating a complex interplay between emotional responses and action.

Beyond Rationality: While traditional views emphasized cognitive attitudes, current research highlights the crucial role of affective responses in environmental action, challenging the dichotomy of emotion versus rationality.

Communication Challenges: The 'emotional turn' in environmental communication acknowledges the power of emotions but also brings to light potential negative impacts on mental health and the risk of over-dependence on emotional appeals in driving pro-environmental actions.

THE DISCUSSION OF EMOTIONS INEVITABLY LEADS TO THEIR IMPACT ON MENTAL HEALTH. WE EXPLORE THE WIDER IMPLICATIONS OF EMOTIONAL RESPONSES, IN PARTICULAR HOW THEY IMPACT ON INDIVIDUAL MENTAL HEALTH AND VULNERABLE PARTS OF THE SOCIETY AS WELL AS THE NEED FOR RESILIENCE IN COPING WITH CLIMATE CHALLENGES.

V. From Emotion to Well-Being: Mental Health and Resilience in the Climate Crisis

Main message: The impact of climate change on mental health includes both direct effects, like heatrelated stress, and indirect effects from natural disasters and socio-political pressures. In this context, emotions extend beyond motivating climate action to significantly impacting mental health and wellbeing. Negative emotions like eco-anxiety, although common in environmental concern, can contribute to mental health challenges, particularly for vulnerable groups. Addressing direct and indirect mental health effects requires recognizing the variety of affected groups and fostering resilience, both individually and within communities, to adapt to climate-related stressors effectively.

Emotions in the context of a climate crisis should not be considered solely in terms of effective climate action. They should be approached from the perspective of challenges posed to mental health and well-being as well (e.g., the potential impacts of messages appealing to emotions, as mentioned in the previous chapter), to provide adequate psychological support to those who are involved in climate action and exposed to other climate change related mental health risks. Negative emotions are normal components of environmental concern and climate action (Clayton, 2020; González-Hidalgo & Zografos, 2020; Kleres & Wettergren, 2017; Pihkala, 2022). However, together with other factors, like chronic stress and activist burnout (Fra Europa, 2019), they may add up to the challenges of mental health and well-being, especially for vulnerable groups (White et al., 2023).

The issue of climate emotions and mental health is popularly addressed with medicalized terms such as eco-anxiety, climate grief, environmental trauma, etc. These terms used in academic literature, media, and everyday communication all seem to refer to the experience of *climate change distress* (Hayes et al., 2018; Ogunbode et al., 2021). Climate change distress may be understood as emotional suffering and mental health deterioration experienced due to the awareness and anticipation of the potential future damage brought about by climate change to natural and human environments (Kałwak & Weihgold, 2022). This is regardless of whether the damage is foreseen to happen locally in one's place of living or understood as a possibility of a global catastrophe. This type of impact mediated in environmental concern, anticipation of future consequences of the climate emergency, or exposure to distressing media messages, does not require first-hand experience, nor does it require an individual's lives to be affected by any climate crisis consequences (Hayes et al., 2018; Lawrance et al., 2021; 2022). In the 6th IPCC report it is called a "vicarious impact" and may be situated at the edge of continuum of possible direct to indirect influences of climate change on mental health (IPCC, 2023; Lawrance et al., 2022).

i. Impact of Climate Change on Mental Health

More generally, the impact of climate change on mental health is a continuum of direct to indirect effects. They range from immediate risks related to the heat, and stress and trauma associated with extreme weather events like floods and hurricanes, to psychosocial impacts resulting from socioeconomic and environmental disruptions such as mass migration or drought, to long-term emotional distress due to the ongoing awareness of climate change's threats to global well-being (Hayes et al., 2018; Lawrance et al., 2022).

The most evidence-based direct effect is the impact of heat on mental health (e.g. Charlson et al., 2021; Cianconi et al., 2020; Clayton et al., 2017; Hayes et al., 2018; Mourougan et al., 2024; van

Susteren & Al-Delaimy, 2020). Extreme heat can lead to conditions such as heat exhaustion, conditions that pose subsequent mental health challenges in addition to the immediate risk to life and health (i.e., a serious risk to the human cardiovascular system). More and more frequent climate change related heatwaves, as well as higher background temperatures, have been found to be responsible for the increase in suicidal attempts, psychiatric hospital admissions, first time and subsequent onsets of psychiatric diseases and symptoms, and violent behaviors (Dixon et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2021; Thompson et al., 2018). The risk related to heat is well-documented across the climate zones. However, it is more severe in sub-tropical and humid climates, in urban areas, in neighborhoods with poorer housing conditions and devoid of green areas, and in populations vulnerable to heat stress (i.e., children, older people, physical workers, individuals with pre-existing health condition or mental health diagnosis; Lawrance et al., 2022; van Susteren & Al-Delaimy, 2020). While the immediate influence of heat stress may not be subject to psychological intervention, due to its possible biological mechanisms (Lõhmus, 2018), an adequate psychoeducation directed to those who are exposed seem beneficial for adequate prevention and adaptation, as well as understanding of the related vulnerabilities at the systemic level of public mental health (e.g., Clayton et al., 2017).

Furthermore, climate change impacts mental health through various and complex pathways that intertwine physical health challenges, community well-being deterioration, and broader social and infrastructural issues (e.g., Berry et al., 2010; Hayes et al., 2018). For example, extreme weather events like floods and storms not only damage physical and social environments, especially in vulnerable and low-income areas, but subsequently can trigger serious mental health consequences similar to those caused by disasters such as earthquakes or chemical pollution (Morganstein & Ursano, 2020). These events exacerbate health problems, food and water shortages (e.g., as a consequence of droughts), and increase conflict and displacement, which further strains mental health. The trauma resulting from first-hand experiences of these extreme events, threats to physical safety, loss of livelihoods, and the ensuing socio-political and economic pressures contribute significantly to mental health deterioration across affected communities (e.g., Bartlett, 2008; Berry et al., 2010; Hayes et al., 2018; Lawrance et al., 2021; 2022). There are, however, numerous indirect impacts characterized by high complexity and interrelatedness, not always related to this first-hand experience and threat to life (Hayes et al., 2018; Lawrance et al., 2021; 2022), but the comprehensive description is beyond the scope of this paper.

ii. Global and Regional Polycrisis and Mental Health Vulnerability

In the context of mental health, the climate crisis is frequently addressed as an element of the polycrisis we are facing right now (e.g., Homer-Dixon et al., 2021; Kałwak et al., 2024). Due to its complexity, it is very difficult to study; and simultaneously the climate change-related mental health vulnerability is so profound and urgent that it is repeatedly emphasized by the leading international organizations such as World Health Organization and United Nations (UN, 2023a/b/c; WHO, 2022). Some of the best documented are the impacts of extreme drought on mental health and suicide rates in Australian and Indian farmers, and post-traumatic stress disorder in Australian children experiencing wildfires (as well as watching them in TV news; Bourqe & Cunsolo Willox, 2014; Hayes et al., 2018; Padhy et al., 2015; Page & Fragar, 2002).

Addressing indirect consequences of climate change for mental health in research and intervention is a demanding task for psychology, public health, and other health studies, especially when the differences between regions and underlying variety of risk factors and vulnerable groups are considered. Global South, (sub)arctic and (sub)tropical climate zones are generally more at risk, as well as the populations and communities characterized by pre-existing vulnerabilities (Bourqe & Cunsolo Willox, 2014; Ogunbode et al., 2021; Padhy et al., 2015; Page & Fragar, 2002; e.g., Indigenous people, young people and especially young females, individuals, and families with lower socioeconomic status: see White et al., 2023).

However, the impact of increasing numbers of sub-extreme weather events, chronic and more slowly progressing climate change and environmental degradation in regions with a more temperate climate should not be beyond our attention. For example, in the European region (especially in Western and Central Europe) water scarcity and resulting desertification, deforestation, and agricultural drought are indicated as the greatest risk for the natural environment and for the economy (IPCC, 2023). Resulting challenges for individuals and communities making their livelihoods out of agriculture, fishery, shepherding, or living in the areas at most risk of repeated sub-extreme weather events should also be addressed from the perspective of mental health risks (IPCC, 2023).

As a conclusion, contrary to the climate emotions that were discussed at the first part of this chapter, direct and indirect mental health impacts of the climate crisis do not require climate change awareness and environmental concern to make an individual or a community at risk of deteriorated mental health and well-being (for example, some agricultural communities across Europe protesting against introducing green laws still may be vulnerable to this risk). For psychological research and intervention motivated by an idea of climate justice, it is important then to adequately identify the vulnerable groups and the risk factors. The current concentration in the academic and grey literature on eco-anxiety and climate emotions may create a false impression that mainly those who are environmentally aware and concerned, who are often city dwellers, well-educated, with a particular set of beliefs, values, and political attitudes, are at risk of mental health and well-being deterioration.

iii. Climate Change and Resilience

In terms of mental health and well-being, prevention is always the better choice when compared with addressing the actual health deterioration. Building resilience contributes significantly to positive mental health by enhancing individuals' ability to manage stress and recover from adversity. Thus, mental resilience is a frequently raised topic in the context of climate emergency. The thinking is that people should be resilient, or build their own resilience, to fit in the climate adaptation requirements and sustain their ability to cope with stress, work effectively, contribute to the society (e.g., Baker et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2020; Doppelt, 2017; Sanson et al., 2019; Wullenkord et al., 2024).

To avoid ascribing too much responsibility to individuals for mitigation and psychological adaptation to the climate change, an alternative concept of community or collective resilience has been offered. This concept recognizes a supportive role of interrelationships within a community, a group, the health system or a whole society which may compensate lower capacities in some members to cope or access various resources, and relieve an individual burden (Behrens et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2020; Clayton et al., 2017; Haldane & Morgan, 2021; Kałwak & Weihgold, 2022; Sanson & Masten, 2024).

Key aspects of community or collective resilience in the face of climate change include:

- **Shared Responsibility**: Distributing the burden of adaptation and coping mechanisms across the community reduces the strain on any single individual, allowing for a more sustainable approach to dealing with climate impacts.
- **Social Support**: Strong social networks are vital for emotional support and practical assistance during times of stress and crisis, which are likely to increase with the ongoing climate emergency.
- **Resource Accessibility**: Community resilience ensures that resources, whether they be informational, emotional, or material, are more equitably distributed among community members, particularly benefiting those who are less capable of obtaining them on their own.
- Enhanced Communication: Effective communication within communities facilitates better preparedness and response strategies, fosters a sense of belonging and collective identity, and enhances the overall resilience of the group.
- Learning and Adaptation: Communities that can learn from past experiences and adapt to new challenges are better positioned to face future crises, including those related to climate change.

TAKEAWAYS

Mental Health Impact: Climate crisis not only triggers environmental concern but also significantly affects mental health, with emotions like eco-anxiety contributing to overall stress and psychological burden, especially among vulnerable groups.

Direct and Indirect Effects: Climate change impacts mental health directly through phenomena like heat stress and indirectly through consequences of natural disasters, creating trauma, socio-political pressures, and economic instability.

Resilience and Community Support: Building individual and community resilience is key in adapting to climate-related stressors. It involves fostering supportive networks that can alleviate individual burdens and enhance collective coping mechanisms.

Based on the findings on the impact on mental health, the following explores how these findings can be translated to the community level to promote transformative, sustainable BEHAVIORS as a kind of buffer against mental impairment. We explore strategies that communities can adopt to improve resilience and promote environmental action.

VI. Transformative Collectives: Pro-Environmental Behavior in a Community Context

Main message: To mitigate climate change effectively, emphasis should be placed on high-impact pro-environmental behaviors within communities, targeting those most active in areas like transport, diet, consumption of goods and energy use. Overcoming barriers such as lack of awareness and structural challenges is crucial, and community-level interventions can harness social norms and values to propagate pro-environmental behaviors. This collective approach not only fosters individual and group resilience but also addresses ethical concerns related to global inequalities and the responsibilities of wealthier nations.

To meet the targets of mitigating climate change, focus must be on high impact pro-environmental behaviors, concerning transport, diet, consumption of goods, and energy use. Also, high impact audiences, in other words people who engage frequently in such behaviors, should be targeted. Since the high impact behaviors are often related to lifestyles and everyday habits that people share within families and communities and that are regulated through the functioning of society more broadly, we need to search for solutions at the community and social level.

Effective mitigation of climate change requires psychology to understand and address a persisting significant prevalence of indifference to climate change, both among and outside European countries, demonstrated in recent studies and in the latest Gallup poll (Evans, 2024; Kácha et al., 2022). This indifference is higher in high carbon emission countries; it includes denial of climate change in general and denying climate change to be an urgent threat (Lloyd's Register Foundation, 2019). In psychology, mechanisms of climate change denial have been discussed from various perspectives of social psychology, behaviorism, or psychoanalysis since the issue of climate change has been made public (e.g., Dunlap, 2013; Kiral Ucar et al., 2023; Weintrobe, 2013).

i. Overcoming Pluralistic Ignorance

Individual climate change beliefs and values play an important role in high impact behaviors. Those with strong biospheric values tend consistently to act upon pro-environmental cues, but (1) lack of awareness, (2) competing values and (3) high behavioral cost due to structural factors might hinder others (Steg, 2023). Moreover, people tend to underestimate the extent of biospheric values and consequent behaviors in others, and thus believe that others have generally weaker proenvironmental values and attitudes. Since social comparisons shape behaviors, this underestimation negatively influences one's own pro-environmental behaviors. This phenomenon, pluralistic ignorance, refers to a "false consensus" (Leviston et al., 2013; Ross, et al. 1977), that while a majority of people support firmer policies regarding mitigating climate change, people believe this to be a minority standpoint (Sparkman, et al. 2022). This also negatively affects social norms, which can be defined as an expectation of how others behave and a sense of obligation to behave alike in given situations (Bouman et al., 2020). Therefore, (1) strengthening biospheric values, (2) emphasizing previous pro-environmental behavior, (3) emphasizing biospheric values in others and (4) changing social costs and benefits, might help those not intrinsically motivated (Bouman & Steg, 2019; 2020). Social emotions like (anticipated) pride, guilt and shame may help people conform to these norms (Shipley & van Riper, 2022).

ii. Community Engagement

Generally, group values, social norms, social identities, and other ways of social influence have been shown to motivate pro-environmental behaviors effectively (Berquist et al., 2020; Bouman et al., 2020; Fritsche et al., 2018). For example, so called peer effects or neighborhood effects can be observed; such effects concern a social transmission of pro-environmental behaviors or adopting pro-environmental solutions in households, among neighbors and among social acquaintances. Social transmission of pro-environmental norms, attitudes and behaviors was also observed intergenerationally within families, and among friends in children and adolescents. Interestingly, social transmission of pro-environmental orientations may decrease the costs to municipalities and states of implementing green solutions. There are several possible mechanisms behind the neighborhood effect, from simple imitation to the influence of a neighborhood's social capital (i.e. the networks, resources, and shared sense of values of a community that bind people together for the common good), which all speak in favour of implementing interventions at the community level (Bigler & Janzen, 2023; Collado et al., 2019; Crociata et al., 2016; Grønhøj, 2006; Macias & Williams, 2016; Wang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2023).

Community psychology emphasizes ethical considerations when addressing common challenges like the climate crisis (Dittmer et al., 2023; Fernandes-Jesus et al., 2020). Key ethical challenges globally include the imbalance of wealth, the responsibility of economically and technologically advanced countries to address environmental damage, and the limited influence of more severely impacted populations in political decisions of wealthier nations. An idea of planetary sense of community has been developed to promote solidarity with people and communities experiencing more damage resulting from the global climate change, whereas they usually have contributed less to it (Fernandes-Jesus et al., 2020; Francescato, 2020; Mebane et al., 2023). Engaging communities collectively helps in sharing information, creating ownership of local challenges, and fostering personal and collective resilience through a sense of know-how and self-efficacy.

TAKEAWAYS

Community Focus: Effective climate action requires community involvement to target and enhance pro-environmental behaviors in critical areas like transport and energy.

Barrier Reduction: Tackling unawareness and structural challenges is vital for fostering sustainable behaviors within communities.

Ethical Integration: Climate initiatives must incorporate ethical considerations, addressing global inequalities and the responsibilities of more affluent nations towards less developed ones.

MOVING FROM COMMUNITY EFFORTS, THE FOCUS WILL NOW SHIFT TO HOW ORGANIZATIONS CAN USE PSYCHOLOGICAL PRINCIPLES TO PROMOTE ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY IN THEIR OPERATIONS AND INFLUENCE BROADER ENVIRONMENTAL PRACTICES.

VII. Corporate Conscience: Pro-Environmental Behavior in an Organizational Context

Main message: Organizations, including public, commercial, and NGOs, significantly shape proenvironmental behavior through both internal policies and public engagement. By embedding environmental values into their operations and communications, such as performance indicators and annual reports, they promote sustainable practices among employees and the wider public. Their role extends beyond influencing behaviors to actual CO₂ emissions reduction, requiring transparency and accountability to build trust and avoid greenwashing. These organizational efforts support broader systemic changes necessary for effective climate action.

Public, educational, and commercial organizations (including industry and multinational corporations), government agencies and NGOs play an important role in changing relevant behaviors, norms, and attitudes. They can do so by offering pro-environmental solutions to their clients and broad public, but also by implementing policies and changing structural factors within their organizations (Lozano, 2022; Sarra, 2020). For example, pro-environmental change may be represented in investor criteria and key performance indicators, and as a consequence then expressed in company value statements and annual reports. If those changes are communicated as pro-environmental, members of that organization will more likely adopt pro-environmental values and attitudes (Ruepert et al., 2015).

i. Environmental Responsibility

Van der Werff et al. (2021) found that a stronger perceived environmental responsibility of organizations is related to a stronger environmental self-identity among employees of the organization. A stronger environmental self-identity was in turn related to a range of proenvironmental actions. This does also apply to those who individually wouldn't be very likely to adopt pro-environmental behaviors (Werff et al., 2021). Multilevel understanding of corporate environmental responsibility includes organizational culture and managers' attitudes and behaviors as driving forces for pro-environmental change within organizations (Karrasin & Bar-Haim, 2016). Therefore, there is a need for hopeful leadership and organizational effectiveness related to contribution to mitigating the climate change (Hofstad et al, 2023; Lozano, 2022).

Environmental responsibility of organizations seems to be based not only on the opportunity to shape and model pro-environmental behaviors and attitudes among the employees and broader public. Multinational corporations and industrial organizations are themselves significant CO₂ emitters, so they bear responsibility for a direct reduction of emissions too. Effectively shaping pro-environmental actions in employees and in the public may depend on trust in the organizations, which in turn requires accountability and transparency in disclosing CO₂ emissions (e.g., avoiding greenwashing practices; European Commission, 2013; Hahn et al., 2015; Robertson, 2021).

While systemic changes (on the national and international political level) are critical to promote society-wide climate actions, drive for change coming from within organizations would certainly support them. For bold political and commercial pro-environmental decisions to be taken and successfully implemented, a strong support base is crucial (Hofstad et al., 2023; Sarra, 2020). Factors that will affect general acceptability are costs and benefits of policies, fairness, and transparency in

distribution of such costs and benefits and the overall trust in responsible actors (Bergquist et al., 2021).

ii. The Particular Role of Educational Institutions

Educational institutions deserve special attention regarding climate change as educational systems are the most robust public systems aiming to shape the basic values and common literacy of societies. Otto et al. (2020) consider the education system to be a key candidate for *social tipping elements*, i.e., sectors of the global socio-economic system in which the required fundamental changes can take place and lead to a suitably fast reduction in human-made greenhouse gas emissions.

Psychology plays a pivotal role in shaping effective environmental education (not only in schools) by providing insights into system understanding, human behavior, cognition, emotion, and motivation. By applying principles of psychology, educators can tailor their approaches to promote proenvironmental behaviors. It is a vital responsibility of psychologists working in schools, colleges, universities, adult education centers, or media as providers of education, especially in teacher training (e.g., critical emotional awareness; Ojala, 2023), to contribute to the development of climate change education with their professional expertise.

TAKEAWAYS

Organizational Influence: Organizations like corporations influence pro-environmental behavior through their internal policies and public engagement strategies, embedding sustainability into their operational frameworks and communications.

Employee Behavior: Organizational commitment to environmental values fosters a stronger environmental self-identity among employees, leading to increased adoption of sustainable behaviors within the workplace.

Transparency and Accountability: Effective climate action by organizations also requires transparency and accountability, particularly in reporting CO₂ emissions to avoid greenwashing and build public trust.

THE ORGANIZATIONAL MEASURES DISCUSSED SET THE STAGE FOR BROADER POLICY IMPLICATIONS. WE NEXT EXAMINE THE WAYS IN WHICH THE INSIGHTS GAINED FROM PSYCHOLOGICAL RESEARCH ARE CRITICAL TO PUBLIC POLICY AND POLICY INTERVENTIONS.

VIII. Advocating Change: Psychological Strategies for Shaping Effective Climate Policy

Main message: Psychology's role in shaping pro-environmental public policies is vital as policy moves beyond individual behavior changes to address systemic and political actions necessary for carbon neutrality. Psychologists bring insights from political psychology to influence policy design and implementation at various levels. Their involvement includes political advocacy, enhancing trust and hope in political processes, and ensuring policies are informed by an understanding of social dynamics and human behavior. This broader application of psychological principles helps empower communities, foster public engagement in environmental actions, and supports sustainable policy development.

If society wants to achieve carbon neutrality, many measures require not only behavioral change at an individual level, such as consumer behavior, but also collective and political actions (Whitmarsh, 2021). As discussed in more depth in Chapter 2 above, various authors point to the limitations of psychology's focus on individual pro-environmental behavior changes, because such an approach can end up overlooking the importance of systemic regulations and other structural conditions that shape behavior (e.g., Adams, 2021; Chater & Loewenstein, 2023). At the same time, one should not overlook the important political role of the individual. Citizens participate in collective decisionmaking to change the structures, from climate activism, to green policy making based on social consultations, to elections.

i. The Role of Psychology in Political Advocacy

Political decisions are made at different levels: international agreements (e.g., through United Nations-led processes), regional, national, local, and community levels. Psychology and behavioral science that wants to influence at these levels is required to move beyond individual solutions, to bring their insights (e.g., from political psychology) to the design and implementation of global, national, and local policies of mitigation of and adaptation to climate change. This implies taking part in political advocacy, influencing decisions, raising issues, and bringing knowledge for political decision-making. This can be achieved by psychologists' active membership and advocacy in national and international organizations addressing various global issues, including the issue of climate emergency (e.g. United Nations) and by bringing the topic of climate change to the fore in national and international psychological associations (e.g., APA that has established the Global Psychology Alliance contributing to climate change policies; EFPA that has its expert groups concerning climate change and advocates at European Union level; and the work of both APA and EFPA (together with the Federation of Swiss Psychologists) in advocacy at the United Nations).

Furthermore, psychologists can make pro-environmental contributions also through advocacy outside these organizations, awareness raising campaigns, research, risk evaluation and management, joining and supporting pro-environmental activists and movements (e.g., Psychologists4Future), contributing to communication about climate crisis, urban rehabilitation and designing, testing, and evaluating public policies (APA, 2022). Raising issues within the public discourse, social engagement and pro-environmental advocacy are broadly accepted as the ways of political influence exerted by psychologist and psychological organizations. Climate change is subject to scientific consensus, just as the necessity of changes at the systemic and political levels are, so psychologists publicly involved in evidence-based mitigation and adaptation to climate change should not be concerned about being perceived as overly politicized (this includes researchers approaching research problems related to the environmental issues).

ii. Integrating Psychological Insights into Policy

There are many specific insights from psychology that might help introducing pro-environmental change at the broad societal and systemic levels. For example, an awareness that behavior always occurs within context and is influenced by it, emphasizes the role of green nudging – nudges that promote an "environmentally benign behavior" – and the use of green social norms. They can help people and organizations – through green rules, regulations, and social incentives – to make pro-environmental and sustainable decisions (Schubert, 2017). Policies (e.g., creating walk- or motor traffic-free transport lanes), energy contracts that by default adopt green energy to increase the uptake of green choices, rules (e.g., charging for plastic bags to discourage the use of single-use plastic bags) are examples of how psychologists can promote changes in regulations to change behaviors in order to build more pro-environmental contexts (Ebeling & Lotz, 2015; Thomas et al., 2019).

Another example is understanding the role of trust and (realistic) hope in systemic and political attempts to mitigate and adapt to the climate change. This necessitates bold and effective political actions, and accountable and hopeful leadership (Hofstad et al., 2023; Sarra, 2020).

On a social level, *trust toward political systems* is important for people to accept political decisions and give up some privileges for the benefit of future generations (Fairbrother et al, 2019). Currently, trust in political systems is unstable, as people concerned with the climate emergency tend to perceive most political decisions as not bold and consistent enough to address the climate emergency effectively (e.g., Hickman et al., 2021; Reinhart, 2022). International and national political decisions and promises have not been wholly effective so far, and as a result, the distrust towards politicians and political processes creates despair and hopelessness in people. This may contribute to worsened mental health and well-being in individuals, or even in whole populations (e.g., climate anxiety and distress in young people; Hickman et al., 2021; Léger-Goodes et al., 2022).

Finally, understanding and creating links between political aims and actions and individuals' or communities' hopes, needs, and aims is important: both for political powers to make decisions aligned with the world's need for sustainability; and for people to sustain their support for proenvironmental policies and motivation to engage in pro-environmental actions (Grzymala-Moszczynska et al., 2023; Jaśko, 2023). For individuals and communities, participation in proenvironmental democratic political processes, especially taking part in group activities and collective actions, reinforces their sense of agency and identity (Musikanski et al., 2020). Especially, participation in successful local activities may increase environmental literacy and other competences, positive self-attributions, and may have generally empowering influence (Fischer, 2018).

TAKEAWAYS

Broadening Scope: Psychology's influence extends beyond individual behavioral changes to shaping systemic and political actions, crucial for addressing the complexities of climate change.

Political Advocacy: Psychologists are increasingly involved in policymaking, using their expertise to guide the creation and implementation of effective, sustainable public policies at all levels of governance.

Empowering Communities: Through their involvement in political and social systems, psychologists help build community empowerment, trust, and active participation in pro-environmental actions, enhancing overall public engagement and support for environmental initiatives.

HAVING DEVELOPED PROPOSALS FOR COMMUNITY, ORGANIZATIONAL AND POLICY IMPLEMENTATION, THE NEXT STEP IS TO COMMUNICATE SUCH RECOMMENDATIONS EFFECTIVELY. WE LOOK AT THE STRATEGIES AND PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS NEEDED TO COMMUNICATE CLIMATE POLICY EFFECTIVELY TO ENSURE THAT IT RESONATES WITH AND APPEALS TO DIFFERENT STAKEHOLDERS.

IX. Conveying Change: Psychological Insights into Climate Change Communication

Main message: Climate change communication aims to shift behaviors and foster societal engagement in sustainability through psychologically informed strategies. Effective communication requires more than just information delivery; it involves engaging in dialogues, strategic messaging, and visible examples of sustainable behaviors to establish new social norms. This approach leverages psychological insights to create messages that resonate with diverse values and motivations, using framing techniques to highlight the personal and collective benefits of environmental actions. The goal is to empower communities, enhance participation, and promote a broader commitment to environmental stewardship as well as improving efficacy of pro-environmental action.

Climate communication can aim for many different *goals*, like receiving input on policy plans, opening a dialogue with the target population to better understand their necessities, simply informing people about new developments or political choices, or increasing acceptance of changes in their living environment. One of the most common objectives is changing people's behavior from unsustainable to more sustainable acts, which is an important focus of climate psychology. While information and communication alone are rarely the triggers of behavior change, they are important for the processes of individual and social sense-making, for example when deliberately incrementing cognitive dissonance, strengthening the identification with climate change issues, or helping in pro-environmental identity formation.

i. Climate Change Communication as a Complex Task

Moser (2007) describes communication as an ongoing and evolving interaction among individuals that enables them to share ideas, emotions, and information. This process helps to develop shared understanding and a collective vision for a desirable future. She links this dynamic conception of climate communication more fully with social change. Clayton & Manning (2018) and Boykoff (2011) highlight that communicating about climate change is challenging due to its complex and abstract nature. They note that the slow evolution of climate issues, combined with social and psychological defenses, makes it difficult for journalists and media to cover the topic consistently.

Climate psychology and climate communication are *intertwined*, as reaching strategic communication goals means understanding the psychological barriers and motives of the desired behaviors. Following Berlo's (1960) traditional SMCR model (Sender, Message, Channel, Receiver), in the complex practice of a person (or organization) who transmits a message (or multiple messages) to certain receivers, many obstacles – of which a large part are psychological – may influence the outcome negatively (Moser, 2007). To ensure effective communication, applying relevant psychological knowledge is essential. Questions on the right messenger, relevant psychological characteristics of the target group, visual and textual messages, timing, and context should be addressed by making use of recent literature on, for example, framing and persuasion when tailoring communicational interventions. Billions of euros are spent by companies to convince people to pursue unsustainable products. Likewise, marketing and communication strategies can also be adopted for sustainability purposes.

ii. The Channel

Communication could be seen as a *broad concept*, ranging from articles in a newspaper and press conferences to social media videos, emojis on an electricity bill, or street signage. From the *socioecological perspective*, senders must be aware of communication difficulties and opportunities on every level of the model. On the individual level, some psychologists specialize in applying conversation skills to have honest and open dialogues about causes, consequences, and solutions for climate change (Clayton & Manning, 2018).

Multi-channel approach proves to be the most effective way of environmental communication. On the community level horizontal communication between members is key for community resilience and bottom-up self-organization. Furthermore, diversity of communication tools should be emphasized to ensure intergenerational justice and accessibility for persons with disabilities. Transmitting information, new sustainable practices and norms through informal channels and networks would probably be more impactful, but also more difficult to influence in a systematic and planned way.

On the governmental and organizational levels, a knowledge base is needed to find the best ways and channels of communicating to, and with workers, clients, and/or citizens.

iii. The Sender

Moser (2007) states that if the ultimate goal is to reach the widest group of people, senders will need diverse, innovative, and more accessible communication approaches (e.g., various forms of popular, street, and higher art, and the digital media). This would also include creating spaces for dialogue and beginning the visioning that will be needed to keep going over the long term. Herein, the difference between one-way and two-way communication strategies is relevant. Sometimes one-way communication from transmitter to receiver is the only possible or necessary type of communication. But often, a two-way or even better, a *participatory communication approach* is needed and demanded. For example, Clayton and Moser (2018) discuss how conversations about climate change can enlighten individuals about the subject, encouraging them to think deeply about its implications and raising their awareness of its significance and risks. These conversations are also useful in devising and applying solutions to climate-related issues. In conversations, ideas can translate into group actions by generating collective efficacy and providing social support (van Zomeren et al., 2012).

From here three components of Berlo's (1960) traditional SMCR model are dissected. First, the sender of a certain climate change message or the initiator of communication efforts can apply different psychological styles. Lertzman (2022) argues that being honest is most important in communication about climate and sustainability and that positivity is only one part of the communication package. She believes the best communicator is a 'Guide'. If changemakers work in a guiding manner, people are more likely to take action and more people feel heard. According to Lertzman (2022), climate communication should dive deeper than is often the case, as the subject taps into an existential level. With compassion, radical understanding of the target group, talking less, building and offering tools and forming a community, sustainability professionals can become guides.

iv. The Message

When sending a message or telling a story, communicators have a task in storytelling in such a way that it fits with the values, motives, norms, identities, interests, and attitudes of different groups (Clayton & Manning, 2018). Information needs to be *tailored* to particular target groups in order to be perceived by them as relevant.

One of the most studied topics related to the message is the science of *framing*. Special focus has been placed on the different impacts of positive and negative, hopeful and pessimistic, loss and gain frames. The effects of messages highlighting among other variables self- and response efficacy, goal framing, and intrinsic or extrinsic appeals, have been studied (Levin et al., 1998; Moxey et al., 2003). The difference between environmental and monetary appeals in messaging has also often been researched. For example, Wang et al. (2022) claim that the loss framework can be adopted for the general public to increase environmental risk perception from the perspectives of environmental protection and resource conservation, thus encouraging the public to participate in waste sorting.

Environmental appeals can motivate people to be altruistic and perform pro-environmental behaviors, even if the benefits are minimal (Carrico et al., 2017). Additionally, using a fear appeal in combination with a message that focuses on people's self-efficacy or confidence in their own abilities or with a response efficacy message, is found to have potential for climate action (Li & Huang, 2020; Witte & Allen, 2000). Next, research has shown that intrinsic goal framing (motivation from within), relative to extrinsic goal framing (motivation driven by external factors), leads to deeper engagement in an activity, deeper processing of the information related to an activity and more persistence (Vansteenkiste et al., 2004, 2006). Another interesting research outcome suggests that intrinsic goals alone result in more positive outcomes than the combination of intrinsic and extrinsic goals (Pelletier, 2008). Framing messages systematically in terms of intrinsic gains or losses (i.e., health, well-being) as opposed to extrinsic gains or losses (i.e., make or save money, comfort, prestige, and fame) facilitates the maintenance of the behaviors that people adopt over time. Finally, once people are ready to act, progressively communicating information on how they could implement their goals and their intentions could further enhance the internalization and the maintenance of behavior (Pelletier, 2008).

Communication approaches can help to increase the visibility of climate-friendly behavior of others. When people see or hear about other people taking environmentally friendly actions, they are more likely to do something for the environment themselves. The visible behavior of the group can create new social norms (Keizer et al., 2013) and the use of social norm messaging is one of the interventions that changes behavior most effectively (Bergquist et al., 2023). Research by Bouman et al. (2020; 2021) has shown that the values to which we think other people around us adhere, have an impact on our own behavior. We systematically underestimate the extent to which others have biospheric and altruistic values. It is therefore important to show in our communication messages that others (people we can relate to) believe that sustainability is an important topic. Referring to dynamic norms (emphasizing that more and more people change their behavior in favor of the environment) could also be an effective strategy to overcome the adverse effect of the general prevalence of behaviors harmful to the environment (Buvár et al., 2023).

Special attention should be given to communication by governments on where we stand on *climate policy*. Not communicating about climate change and new policies is not an option. Public acceptance is a precondition for implementing climate change mitigation policies. In this context, it is

important to highlight studies on policy acceptance. According to Dreijerink and Klosters (2021) acceptance depends on three determinants: expected effectiveness of the policy option, honesty or fairness, and the effect the policy will have on society and one's own life.

v. The Receiver

It is not only the message that predicts effectiveness of the communication effort, temporal and stable characteristics of the receivers also influence the outcome. For example, Anghelcev and Sar (2014) found that participants' moods influenced the impact of negatively or positively framed messages on intentions to recycle paper and evaluations of pro-recycling advertisements. Also, the dual-process model indicates that greater involvement with relevant content of the target group will lead to more systematic and effortful processing (Eagly & Chaiken 1993).

Many studies have been performed that investigate differences in effective framing for conservatives and liberals. Wolsko et al. (2016) found that political conservatives displayed more proenvironmental attitudes after a binding moral frame, i.e. making a case that it is the right thing to do. Attitude change was mediated by perceptions that the moral frame came from the ingroup. Maibach et al. (2008) argue that conservation messages for conservatives can use an economic, an energy independence, a legacy, a stewardship, a religious frame or a frame related to the own nation.

Finally, the regulatory focus framework indicates that *promotion-focused* participants prefer messages focused on the achievement of positive outcomes (e.g., "a green future") and *prevention-focused* participants prefer messages focused on the avoidance of negative outcomes (e.g., "every tenth of a degree counts"; <u>https://independent.academia.edu/MauroBertolotti?swp=tc-au-25408609</u> Cesario et al., 2013).

vi. Concerning Efficacy

To conclude, in view of the worsening climate crisis and the narrowing time window for effective action, it is particularly important to ensure that the measures communicated are actually effective. Effective communication extends beyond merely disseminating information; it involves raising awareness, building public support, and motivating individuals, organizations, and governments to take significant steps toward a sustainable future (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024). To this end, communication strategies should (this list of recommendations is based on Hagedorn & Peter, 2024) ...

- ... provide clear and reliable information about how effective sustainable actions are, especially focusing on high-impact behaviors in areas like personal consumption, economic choices, political involvement, and community activities (e.g., Gatersleben et al, 2002).
- ... include discussions about smaller-scale actions within a larger context that helps people understand the full scope of the problem, the necessary steps to address it, and how these actions fit into a comprehensive solution (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024).
- ... provide a balance in communicating the seriousness of the problem with practical solutions (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024), and to choose a message that is both clear and suited to the audience's needs (e.g., Nisbet, 2009).
- ... communicate the need for large-scale changes alongside individual actions (Abson et al., 2017; Chater & Loewenstein, 2022), highlighting that these changes should match the urgency and size of the problem, and recognize that there are time limits for finding solutions.

- ... raise awareness using specific examples about issues like greenwashing (false claims of sustainability), single-action bias (thinking one action is enough), the rebound effect (actions that negate positive impacts), and efficacy simulations (actions providing a sense of efficacy without generating an impact that is proportional to the problem) (Shome & Marx, 2009). Also, inform people about political and economic groups that benefit from spreading false information or delaying action (e.g., Franta, 2021).
- ... make genuinely effective sustainable behaviors and collaborative efforts more visible, as this can inspire others and create a ripple effect (e.g., Hamann & Reese, 2020; Jugert et al., 2016; Leviston & Uren, 2020.

Overall, communication should address not only information and knowledge but also social norms, values, emotions, and identity to foster a sense of collective responsibility and agency (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024).

TAKEAWAYS

Diversity in Communication Tools: Utilizing a variety of communication methods, from traditional media to innovative digital platforms, is essential. This approach ensures the message reaches a diverse audience, facilitating effective engagement and participation in climate action.

Role of Psychology in Effective Messaging: Leveraging psychological insights is crucial for crafting messages that resonate deeply with different audiences. It is important to consider the emotional, cognitive, and social factors that influence public perceptions and reactions to climate change information.

Authentic Communication: Avoiding efficacy simulations – where actions feel effective but have little real-world impact – is critical. Communication should not only inform but also motivate genuine and impactful actions, addressing the risk of creating a false sense of progress in climate action.

FINALLY, AFTER CONSIDERING THE IMPACT OF EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION ON PUBLIC PERCEPTION AND BEHAVIOR, WE ONCE AGAIN EMPHASIZE THE IMPORTANCE OF A COLLECTIVE RESPONSE TO THE CLIMATE CRISIS AND THE PARTICULAR ROLE OF PSYCHOLOGY IN THIS. BASED ON THE FINDINGS DISCUSSED, WE ARGUE FOR A HOLISTIC APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY THAT PROMOTES COLLECTIVE EFFORTS AT THE INDIVIDUAL, COMMUNITY AND SOCIETAL LEVELS.

X. Collective Responsibility: Towards a Sustainable and Resilient Society

Main message: Broadening the scope of psychology in climate action is critical, emphasizing the need to move beyond influencing individual behavior to impacting collective efforts and systemic changes. Psychology must engage with community actions and target decision-makers and economic leaders who possess the capability to implement transformative, large-scale environmental reforms efficiently. This shift is essential for achieving substantial and effective solutions to climate as well as other socio-ecological challenges.

In the journey towards a sustainable and resilient society, collective actions and efficacy are vital. Confronting global crises requires collaborative efforts, emphasizing the importance of working together within communities and organizations. Models like the Social Identity Model of Pro-Environmental Action (Fritsche et al., 2018) underscore the power of collective efficacy in driving environmental change, enhancing individual actions and community-driven initiatives. Beyond individual efforts, this collective approach fosters shared environmental practices and policy support.

Emotions, particularly in response to climate change, play a complex role, influencing both personal actions and mental health. Recognizing these dynamics, and the impact of direct and indirect effects of climate change on mental health, is essential. Strategies should involve fostering mental resilience and advocating for systemic changes, integrating climate justice, and focusing on sustainable, science-based community, organizational, and societal solutions. In this transformative journey, psychology has a critical role in guiding individuals, communities, institutions, leaders and policymakers through these multifaceted challenges.

However, a critical examination of psychology's role in this context reveals a potential oversight. The focus has often been disproportionately on consumer behavior (Nielsen et al., 2021), neglecting the influence of those with the power to enact rapid changes. With such a narrow focus, psychology may even have contributed to the fact that effective climate protection is often only *simulated* and not *actually realized* (Hagedorn & Peter, 2024). The limitation in scope risks marginalizing the impact psychology can have on decision-makers and leaders, who are instrumental in implementing large-scale, systemic changes. In this vein, more approaches, such as the 'de-growth movement' a psychology of modesty, justice and ecological adaptation etc., are discussed in Röhrle (2024). The potential of psychology is not fully realized if it remains limited to influencing individual consumers, rather than also addressing and understanding the motivations and behaviors of key political and economic stakeholders who can better effect the immediate and significant environmental changes required.

TAKEAWAYS

Psychology's Expanded Role: Psychology's potential extends beyond individual consumer behavior to encompass broader systemic influences, emphasizing collective actions and organizational behaviors as crucial areas for intervention.

Influence of Leaders: The decisions of policymakers and economic leaders play a critical role in the rapid and significant implementation of environmental reforms, suggesting the need for psychology to engage more deeply with these influential figures.

Multi-level Implementation: Community-driven initiatives and systemic interventions are vital for building resilience and addressing mental health challenges exacerbated by climate change, underlining the importance of such strategies in effective climate action.

6. References

- Abbasi, K., Ali, P., Barbour, V., Benfield, T., Bibbins-Domingo, K., Hancocks, S., Horton, R., Laybourn-Langton, L., Mash, R., Sahni, P., Sharief, W. M., Yonga, P., & Zielinski, C. (2024). Time to treat the climate and nature crisis as one indivisible global health emergency. *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, 74(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.24-01</u>
- Abson, D. J., Fischer, J., Leventon, J., Newig, J., Schomerus, T., Vilsmaier, U., von Wehrden, H., Abernethy, P., Ives, C. D., Jager, N. W., & Lang, D. J. (2017). Leverage points for sustainability transformation. *Ambio*, 46(1), 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0800-y
- Adams, M. (2021). Critical psychologies and climate change. *Current Opinion in Psychology, 42,* 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2021.01.007
- Alexander, S., & Ussher, S. (2012). The Voluntary Simplicity Movement: A multi-national survey analysis in theoretical context. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 12(1), 66–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540512444019</u>
- American Psychological Association. (2022). APA Taskforce on Climate Change Addressing the Climate Crisis: An Action Plan for Psychologists. EUA, Washington: APA.
- Amorim-Maia, A. T., Anguelovski, I., Chu, E., & Connolly, J. J. (2022). Intersectional climate justice: A conceptual pathway for bridging adaptation planning, transformative action, and social equity. *Urban Climate, 41*, 101053. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2021.101053</u>
- Anghelcev, G., & Sar, S. (2014). In the mood for [the right kind of] social marketing communication. *Journal of Social Marketing*, 4(1), 38–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jsocm-04-2013-0025</u>
- APA Task Force on Climate Change. (2022). Addressing the climate crisis: An action plan for psychologists (summary). *American Psychologist*, 77(7), 799–811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0001041</u>
- Arias, P. A., Bellouin, N., Coppola, E., Jones, R. G., Krinner, G., Marotzke, J., ... Zickfeld, K. (2021). Technical Summary. In *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis*. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Armbruster, S. T., Manchanda, R. V., & Vo, N. (2022). When are loss frames more effective in climate change communication? An application of fear appeal theory. *Sustainability*, 14(12), 7411. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su14127411</u>
- Baker, C., Clayton, S., & Bragg, E. (2021). Educating for resilience: Parent and teacher perceptions of children's emotional needs in response to climate change. *Environmental Education Research*, 27(5), 687–705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2020.1828288</u>
- Bamberg, S., & Rees, J. (2015). Environmental Attitudes and Behavior: Measurement. International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences (Second Edition), 699–705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-097086-8.91066-3</u>
- Barkemeyer, R., Young, C. W., Chintakayala, P., & Owen, A. (2022). Eco-labels, Conspicuous Conservation and Moral Licensing: An Indirect Behavioural Rebound Effect. Academy of Management Proceedings. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2022.236</u>
- Bartlett, S. (2008). Climate change and urban children: Impacts and implications for adaptation in low- and middle-income countries. *Environment and Urbanization*, 20(2), 501–519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247808096125</u>
- Bednarek, S. (2021). Who needs to change? Reflections on the complex relationship between climate change, mental health and the profession of psychotherapy. In *The Change Process in Psychotherapy During Troubling Times* (pp. 142-152). Routledge.
- Behrens, D. A., Rauner, M. S., & Sommersguter-Reichmann, M. (2022). Why Resilience in Health Care Systems is More than Coping with Disasters: Implications for Health Care Policy. *Schmalenbach Journal of Business Research*, 74(4), 465–495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41471-022-00132-0</u>
- Bergquist, M., Nilsson, A., Harring, N., & Jagers, S. C. (2021). Determinants for Accepting Climate Change Mitigation Policies: A Meta-Analysis. *Research Square*. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-333840/v1</u>

- Bergquist, M., Nyström, L., & Nilsson, A. (2020). Feeling or following? A field-experiment comparing social norms-based and emotions-based motives encouraging pro-environmental donations. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 19(4), 351–358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1813</u>
- Bergquist, M., Thiel, M., Goldberg, M. H., & Van Der Linden, S. (2023). Field interventions for climate change mitigation behaviors: A second-order meta-analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 120(13). <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2214851120</u>

Bergquist, P., Mildenberger, M., & Stokes, L. C. (2020). Combining climate, economic, and social policy builds public support for climate action in the US. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15(5), 054019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab81c1</u>

- Bernard, P. (2019). Health psychology at the age of Anthropocene. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine*, 7(1), 193–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21642850.2019.1617150</u>
- Berry, H. L., Bowen, K., & Kjellstrom, T. (2010). Climate change and mental health: A causal pathways framework. *International Journal of Public Health*, *55*(2), 123–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-009-0112-0</u>
- Bertolotti, M., & Catellani, P. (2014). Effects of message framing in policy communication on climate change. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 44(5), 474–486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2033</u>
- Bigler, P., & Janzen, B. (2023). Green Spills: Peer effects in pro-environmental behaviors. *Social Science Research Network*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4608076</u>
- Bouman, T., & Steg, L. (2019). Motivating society-wide pro-environmental change. *One Earth*, 1(1), 27–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.08.002
- Bouman, T., Steg, L., & Zawadzki, S. J. (2020). The value of what others value: When perceived biospheric group values influence individuals' pro-environmental engagement. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 71*, 101470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101470</u>
- Bouman, T., van der Werff, E., Perlaviciute, G., & Steg, L. (2021). Environmental values and identities at the personal and group level. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 42,* 47–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2021.02.022</u>
- Bouman, T., Verschoor, M., Albers, C. J., Böhm, G., Fisher, S., Poortinga, W., Whitmarsh, L., & Steg, L. (2020). When worry about climate change leads to climate action: How values, worry and personal responsibility relate to various climate actions. *Global Environmental Change, 62*, 102061. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102061</u>
- Bourque, F., & Cunsolo Willox, A. (2014). Climate change: The next challenge for public mental health? International Review of Psychiatry, 26(4), 415–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09540261.2014.925851</u>
- Boykoff, M. (2011). *Who speaks for the climate? Making sense of media reporting on climate change.* Cambridge University Press.
- Brosch, T. (2021). Affect and emotions as drivers of climate change perception and action: A review. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 42,* 15–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2021.02.001</u>
- Brown, K. W., & Kasser, T. (2005). Are psychological and ecological well-being compatible? The role of values, mindfulness, and lifestyle. *Social Indicators Research*, 74(2), 349–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-004-8207-8</u>
- Brutzman, B., Bustos, T. E., Hart, M. J., & Neal, J. W. (2022). A new wave of context: Introduction to the special issue on socioecological approaches to psychology [Editorial]. *Translational Issues in Psychological Science*, 8(2), 177–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tps0000337</u>
- Budziszewska, M., & Jonsson, S. E. (2021). From climate anxiety to climate action: An existential perspective on climate change concerns within psychotherapy. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 0022167821993243.
- Buvár, Á., Zsila, Á., & Orosz, G. (2023). Non-green influencers promoting sustainable consumption: Dynamic norms enhance the credibility of authentic pro-environmental posts. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, 1112762.
- Capstick, S., Nash, N., Whitmarsh, L., Poortinga, W., Haggar, P., & Brügger, A. (2022). The connection between subjective wellbeing and pro-environmental behaviour: Individual and cross-national characteristics in a seven-country study. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *133*, 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2022.02.025

- Cardinale, B., Duffy, J., Gonzalez, A. *et al.* Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, **486**, 59–67 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148
- Carrico, A. R., Raimi, K. T., Truelove, H. B., & Eby, B. (2017). Putting your money where your mouth is: an experimental test of Pro-Environmental spillover from reducing meat consumption to monetary donations. *Environment and Behavior*, *50*(7), 723–748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916517713067</u>
- Chater, N., & Loewenstein, G. (2022). The i-frame and the s-frame: How focusing on individual-level solutions has led behavioral public policy astray. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 46*, e147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0140525x22002023</u>
- Charlson, F., Ali, S., Benmarhnia, T., Pearl, M., Massazza, A., Augustinavicius, J., & Scott, J. G. (2021). Climate Change and Mental Health: A Scoping Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(9), 4486. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094486</u>
- Chen, H., & Sun, J. (2015). Changes in climate extreme events in China associated with warming. International Journal of Climatology, 35(10), 2735–2751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4168</u>
- Chen, S., Bagrodia, R., Pfeffer, C., Meli, L., & Bonanno, G. A. (2020). Anxiety and resilience in the face of natural disasters associated with climate change: A review and methodological critique. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 76*, 102297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102297</u>
- Chu, H., & Yang, J. Z. (2019). Emotion and the psychological distance of climate change. *Science Communication*, 41(6), 761–789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547019889637</u>
- Cianconi, P., Betrò, S., & Janiri, L. (2020). The Impact of Climate Change on Mental Health: A Systematic Descriptive Review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *11*, 74. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00074</u>
- Clayton, S. (2020). Climate anxiety: Psychological responses to climate change. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders,* 74, 102263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102263</u>
- Clayton, S., & Karazsia, B. T. (2020). Development and validation of a measure of climate change anxiety. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 69*, 101434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101434</u>
- Clayton, S., & Manning, C. (Eds.). (2018). *Psychology and climate change: Human perceptions, impacts, and responses*. Elsevier Academic Press.
- Clayton, S., Manning, C. M., Krygsman, K., & Speiser, M. (2017). *Mental Health and Our Changing Climate: Impacts, Implications, and Guidance.* Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association, and ecoAmerica.
- Coelho, F., Pereira, M. C., Cruz, L., Simões, P., & Barata, E. (2017). Affect and the adoption of proenvironmental behaviour: A structural model. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 54*, 127–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2017.10.008</u>
- Collado, S., Staats, H., & Sancho, P. (2019). Normative influences on adolescents' self-reported proenvironmental behaviors: The role of parents and friends. *Environment and Behavior, 51*(3), 288–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916517744591</u>
- Contreras, A., Blanchard, A., Mouguiama Daouda, C., & Heeren, A. (2023). When eco-anger (but not ecoanxiety nor eco-sadness) makes you change! A temporal network approach to the emotional experience of climate change. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 102*, 102822. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2023.102822</u>
- Crociata, A., Agovino, M., & Sacco, P. L. (2016). Neighborhood effects and pro-environmental behavior: The case of Italian separate waste collection. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 135*, 80–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.083</u>
- Dahlgren, G., & Whitehead, M. (2021). The Dahlgren-Whitehead model of health determinants: 30 years on and still chasing rainbows. *Public health, 199*, 20-24.
- Dennison, J. (2023). Emotions: Functions and significance for attitudes, behaviour, and communication. *Migration Studies*, mnad018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/migration/mnad018</u>
- Dittmar, H., Bond, R., Hurst, M., & Kasser, T. (2014). The relationship between materialism and personal wellbeing: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *107*(5), 879–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037409</u>
- Dittmer, L. D., Reimer-Watts, K., Dobai, J., & Riemer, M. (2023). Contributions, missed opportunities, and future directions: A critical reflection on global climate change and environmental sustainability in AJCP

over five decades. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 72(3-4), 288-301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12720</u>

- Dixon, P. G., Sinyor, M., Schaffer, A., Levitt, A., Haney, C. R., Ellis, K. N., & Sheridan, S. C. (2014). Association of weekly suicide rates with temperature anomalies in two different climate types. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 11(11), 11627-11644.
- Doppelt, B. (2017). Transformational Resilience. How Building Human Resilience to Climate Disruption Can Safeguard Society and Increase Wellbeing. Routledge.
- Dreijerink, L. J. M., & Klösters, M. P. W. M. (2021). Wat is het maatschappelijk draagvlak voor klimaatbeleid? Onderzoek naar beleidsopties van de studiegroep Invulling klimaatopgave Green Deal. Amsterdam: TNO.
- Dunlap, R. E. (2013). Climate change skepticism and denial: An introduction. American behavioral scientist, 57(6), 691-698. Ebeling, F., & Lotz, S. (2015). Domestic uptake of green energy promoted by opt-out tariffs. Nature Climate Change, 5(9), 868–871. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2681</u>
- Ejelöv, E., Hansla, A., Bergquist, M., & Nilsson, A. (2018). Regulating emotional Responses to climate Change a construal level perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00629</u>
- European Commission. (2013). Transparency International Submission to DG Climate Action on the state of the European Carbon Market.
- European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights [FRA]. (2019). *Fundamental Rights Report 2019*. <u>https://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2019/fundamental-rights-report-2019</u>.
- Evans, M. C. (2024, April 22). Seven Key Gallup Findings About the Environment on Earth Day. Gallup.Com. <u>https://news.gallup.com/poll/643850/seven-key-gallup-findings-environment-earth-day.aspx</u> (19.05.2024)
- Fairbrother, M., Sevä, I. J., & Kulin, J. (2019). Political trust and the relationship between climate change beliefs and support for fossil fuel taxes: Evidence from a survey of 23 European countries. *Global Environmental Change*, 59, 102003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.102003</u>
- Feldman, L., & Hart, P. S. (2018). Is there any hope? How climate change news imagery and text influence audience emotions and support for climate mitigation policies. *Risk Analysis, 38*(3), 585–602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12868</u>
- Fernandes-Jesus, M., Brendon, B., & Diniz, R. F. (2020). Communities reclaiming power and social justice in the face of climate change. *Community Psychology in Global Perspective*, 6(2/2), 1-21.
- Ferrer-i-Carbonell, A. (2005). Income and well-being: An empirical analysis of the comparison income effect. *Journal of Public Economics, 89*(5), 997–1019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2004.06.003</u>
- Fischer, F. (2018). Environmental Democracy: Participation, Deliberation and Citizenship. In: Boström, M., Davidson, D. (eds) *Environment and Society*. Palgrave Studies in Environmental Sociology and Policy. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-76415-3_12</u>
- Francescato, D. (2020). Why we need to build a planetary sense of community. *Community Psychology in Global Perspective*, 6(2/2), 140-164.
- Franta, B. (2021). Early oil industry disinformation on global warming. *Environmental Politics, 30*(4), 663–668. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2020.1863703
- Fritsche, I., Barth, M., Jugert, P., Masson, T., & Reese, G. (2018). A Social Identity Model of Pro-Environmental Action (SIMPEA). *Psychological Review*, *125*(2), 245–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000090</u>
- Fritze, J. G., Blashki, G., Burke, S., & Wiseman, J. (2008). Hope, despair and transformation: Climate change and the promotion of mental health and wellbeing. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 2(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-4458-2-13</u>
- Future Earth. (2021). Global Risks Perceptions Report 2021. Future Earth, Sustainability in the Digital Age, and International Science Council; https://futureearth.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/12/GlobalRisksPerceptionsReport2021.pdf. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5764288</u> (19.05.2024)
- Galvin, R., Dütschke, E., & Weiß, J. (2021). A conceptual framework for understanding rebound effects with renewable electricity: A new challenge for decarbonizing the electricity sector. *Renewable Energy*, *176*, 423–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.05.074</u>

- Gatersleben, B., Steg, L., & Vlek, C. (2002). Measurement and Determinants of Environmentally Significant Consumer Behavior. *Environment and Behavior*, *34*(3), 335–362. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916502034003004
- Gao, J., Zheng, P., Jia, Y., et al. (2020). Mental health problems and social media exposure during COVID-19 outbreak. *Plos One*, *15*(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231924</u>
- Geiger, N., Dwyer, T., & Swim, J. K. (2023). Hopium or empowering hope? A meta-analysis of hope and climate engagement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *14*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1139427</u>
- Gifford, R. (2011). The dragons of inaction: Psychological barriers that limit climate change mitigation and adaptation. *American Psychologist, 66*(4), 290–302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023566</u>
- Gifford, R., & Nilsson, A. (2014). Personal and social factors that influence pro-environmental concern and behaviour: A review. *International Journal of Psychology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12034</u>
- González-Hidalgo, M., & Zografos, C. (2019). Emotions, power, and environmental conflict: Expanding the 'emotional turn' in political ecology. *Progress in Human Geography*, 44(2), 235–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132518824644</u>
- Gregersen, T., Andersen, G., & Tvinnereim, E. (2023). The strength and content of climate anger. *Global Environmental Change*, *82*, 102738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2023.102738</u>
- Grønhøj, A. (2006). Communication about consumption: a family process perspective on 'green' consumer practices. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour: An International Research Review, 5*(6), 491–503. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.198
- Grund, J., & Brock, A. (2019). Why we should empty Pandora's box to create a sustainable future: hope, sustainability and its implications for education. *Sustainability*, 11(3), 893. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11030893</u>
- Grzymala-Moszczynska, J., Coenen, A., Jasko, K., et al. (2023). "The whole thing is a juggling act": Qualitative Exploration of Goal Systems among Activists and Nonactivists. *PsyArXiv*. <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/drasx</u>
- Guillaume, J. H., Sojamo, S., Porkka, M., Gerten, D., Jalava, M., Lankoski, L., ... & Kummu, M. (2020). Giving legs to handprint thinking: Foundations for evaluating the good we do. *Earth's Future*, 8(6), e2019EF001422.
- Hagedorn, G., & Peter, F. (2024). Efficacy Simulations: A pattern of inadequate environmental action. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/h5734
- Hahn, R., Reimsbach, D., & Schiemann, F. (2015). Organizations, Climate Change, and Transparency: Reviewing the Literature on Carbon Disclosure. *Organization & Environment, 28*(1), 80-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026615575542</u>
- Haldane, V., & Morgan, G. T. (2021). From resilient to transilient health systems: The deep transformation of health systems in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Policy and Planning, 36*(1), 134–135. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czaa169
- Hamann, K. R. S., & Reese, G. (2020). My influence on the world (of others): goal efficacy beliefs and efficacy affect predict private, public, and activist pro-environmental behavior. *Journal of Social Issues*, 76(1), 35–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12369</u>
- Hayes, K., Blashki, G., Wiseman, J., Burke, S., & Reifels, L. (2018). Climate change and mental health: risks, impacts and priority actions. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 12(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-018-0210-6</u>
- Hickel, J., Kallis, G., Jackson, T., O'Neill, D. W., Schor, J. B., Steinberger, J. K., Victor, P. A., & Ürge-Vorsatz, D. (2022). Degrowth can work—Here's how science can help. *Nature*, *612*(7940), 400–403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-022-04412-x</u>
- Hickman, C., Marks, E., Pihkala, P., et al. (2021). Climate anxiety in children and young people and their beliefs about government responses to climate change: a global survey. *The Lancet. Planetary Health*, 5(12), e863–e873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2542-5196(21)00278-3</u>
- Higham, J., Cohen, S. A., Cavaliere, C. T., Reis, A., & Finkler, W. (2016). Climate change, tourist air travel and radical emissions reduction. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 111, 336-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.10.100</u>

- Hofstad, H., Sørensen, E., Torfing, J., & Vedeld, T. (2023). Leading co-creation for the green shift. *Public Money* & *Management*, 43(4), 357–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540962.2021.1992120</u>
- Holman, E. A., Garfin, D. R., Lubens, P., & Silver, R. C. (2020). Media exposure to collective trauma, mental health, and functioning: Does it matter what you see? *Clinical Psychological Science*, 8(1), 111–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702619858300
- Homer-Dixon, T., Renn, O., Rockstrom, J., Donges, J. F., & Janzwood, S. (2021). A Call for An International Research Program on the Risk of a Global Polycrisis. SSRN Scholarly Paper. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4058592</u>
- Hornsey, M. J., Chapman, C. M., & Oelrichs, D. M. (2021). Ripple effects: Can information about the collective impact of individual actions boost perceived efficacy about climate change? *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 97, 104217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2021.104217
- Horton, R., & Lo, S. (2015). Planetary health: a new science for exceptional action. *Lancet, 386*(10007), 1921–1922. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(15)61038-8</u>
- Hurst, K. F., & Sintov, N. D. (2022). Guilt consistently motivates pro-environmental outcomes while pride depends on context. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 80, 101776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2022.101776</u>
- Ibanez, L., & Roussel, S. (2021). The effects of induced emotions on environmental preferences and behavior: An experimental study. *Plos one, 16*(9), e0258045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0258045</u>
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC] (2022). Climate Change 2022 Mitigation of Climate Change. IPCC.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC]. (2023). Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. https://doi: 10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647
- Jaśko, K. (2023). Political Behavior from the Perspective of the Goal Systems Theory. In *Goal Systems Theory: Psychological Processes and Applications* (pp. 257–279). Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780197687468.003.0013</u>
- Jones, C. A., & Davison, A. (2021). Disempowering emotions: The role of educational experiences in social responses to climate change. *Geoforum, 118,* 190-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2020.11.006</u>
- Jugert, P., Greenaway, K. H., Barth, M., Büchner, R., Eisentraut, S., & Fritsche, I. (2016). Collective efficacy increases pro-environmental intentions through increasing self-efficacy. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 48, 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2016.08.003
- Juhola, S., Filatova, T., Hochrainer-Stigler, S., Mechler, R., Scheffran, J., & Schweizer, P.-J. (2022). Social tipping points and adaptation limits in the context of systemic risk: Concepts, models and governance. *Frontiers in Climate*, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2022.1009234</u>
- Kácha, O., Vintr, J., & Brick, C. (2022). Four Europes: Climate change beliefs and attitudes predict behavior and policy preferences using a latent class analysis on 23 countries. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 81, 101815.
- Kagan, C., Akhurst, J., Alfaro, J., Zambrano, A., & Lawthom, R. (2022). *Routledge International Handbook of Community Psychology: Facing Global Crises with Hope*. Routledge. ISBN 9780367344153
- Kagan, C., Siddiquee, A., Burton, M., Lawthom, R., & Duckett, P. (2011). *Critical community psychology*. Wiley. ISBN: 978-1-405-18884-5
- Kahneman, D., Krueger, A. B., Schkade, D., Schwarz, N., & Stone, A. A. (2006). Would You Be Happier If You Were Richer? A Focusing Illusion. *Science*, *312*(5782), 1908–1910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1129688</u>
- Kałwak, W., & Weihgold, V. (2022). The relationality of ecological emotions: an interdisciplinary critique of individual resilience as psychology's response to the climate crisis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.823620</u>
- Kałwak, W., Weziak-Bialowolska, D., Wendołowska, A., et al. (2024). Young adults from disadvantaged groups experience more stress and deterioration in mental health associated with polycrisis. *Sci Rep, 14*, 8757. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-59325-8</u>

- Kang, J., Martinez, C. M. J., & Johnson, C. (2021). Minimalism as a sustainable lifestyle: Its behavioral representations and contributions to emotional well-being. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 27, 802–813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2021.02.001</u>
- Karassin, O., & Bar-Haim, A. (2016). Multilevel corporate environmental responsibility. *Journal of Environmental Management, 183*, 110–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.08.051</u>
- Kasser, T., Rosenblum, K. L., Sameroff, A. J., Deci, E. L., Niemiec, C. P., Ryan, R. M., Árnadóttir, O., Bond, R., Dittmar, H., Dungan, N., & Hawks, S. (2014). Changes in materialism, changes in psychological wellbeing: Evidence from three longitudinal studies and an intervention experiment. *Motivation and Emotion*, 38(1), 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-013-9371-4</u>
- Kates, R. W., Travis, W. R., & Wilbanks, T. J. (2012). Transformational adaptation when incremental adaptations to climate change are insufficient. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(19), 7156–7161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115521109</u>
- Keizer, K., Lindenberg, S., & Steg, L. (2013). The importance of demonstratively restoring order. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(6), Article e65137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065137</u>
- Kiral Ucar, G., Gezici-Yalcin, M., Özdemir Planalı, G., & Reese, G. (2023). Social identities, climate change denial, and efficacy beliefs as predictors of pro-environmental engagements. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 102144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2023.102144</u>
- Kleres, J., & Wettergren, Å. (2017). Fear, hope, anger, and guilt in climate activism. *Social Movement Studies, 16*(5), 507–519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14742837.2017.1344546</u>
- Kogler, M. L., & Jäger, G. (2020). Threat and Anxiety in the Climate Debate An Agent-Based Model to Investigate climate Scepticism and Pro-Environmental behaviour. *Sustainability*, 12(5), 1823. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12051823</u>
- Kurth, C., & Pihkala, P. (2022). Eco-anxiety: What it is and why it matters. *Frontiers in Psychology, 13*, 981814. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.981814
- Kurz, T., Gardner, B., Verplanken, B., & Abraham, C. (2014). Habitual behaviors or patterns of practice?
 Explaining and changing repetitive climate-relevant actions. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Climate Change, 6(1), 113–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.327</u>
- Lampert, T., Costa, J., Santos, O., Sousa, J., Ribeiro, T., & Freire, E. (2021). Evidence on the contribution of community gardens to promote physical and mental health and well-being of non-institutionalized individuals: A systematic review. *PloS One*, *16*(8), e0255621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255621</u>
- Lange, F., & Dewitte, S. (2020). Positive affect and pro-environmental behavior: A preregistered experiment. *Journal of Economic Psychology, 80*, 102291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2020.102291</u>
- Lawrance, E., Thompson, R., Fontana, G., & Jennings, N. (2021). The impact of climate change on mental health and emotional wellbeing: current evidence and implications for policy and practice. *Grantham Institute briefing paper, 36*.
- Lawrance, E. L., Thompson, R., Newberry Le Vay, J., Page, L., & Jennings, N. (2022). The impact of climate change on mental health and emotional wellbeing: a narrative review of current evidence, and its implications. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 34(5), 443-498. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2022.2128725
- Léger-Goodes, T., Malboeuf-Hurtubise, C., Mastine, T., Généreux, M., Paradis, P., & Camden, C. (2022). Ecoanxiety in children: A scoping review of the mental health impacts of the awareness of climate change. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.872544</u>
- Lertzman, R. (2022). https://projectinsideout.net/
- Levin, I. P., Schneider, S. L., & Gaeth, G. J. (1998). All frames are not created equal: A typology and critical analysis of framing effects. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *76*(2), 149–188. https://doi.org/10.1006/obhd.1998.2804
- Leviston, Z., & Uren, H. V. (2020). Overestimating One's "Green" Behavior: Better-Than-Average Bias May Function to Reduce Perceived Personal Threat from Climate Change. *Journal of Social Issues*, 76(1), 70– 85. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12365

- Leviston, Z. & Walker, I. & Morwinski, S. (2013). Your opinion on climate change might not be as common as you think. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*(4), 334–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1743</u>
- Li, Jian & Huang, Jin-Song, 2020. "Dimensions of artificial intelligence anxiety based on the integrated fear acquisition theory," *Technology in Society, Elsevier, 63*(C), 101410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101410</u>
- Liu, J., Varghese, B., Hansen, A., & Bi, P. (2021). Effects of high temperatures on poor mental health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Public Health*, *31*(Supplement_3), ckab164-634.
- Lloyd's Register Foundation. (2019). *The majority of people around the world are concerned about climate change.* The Lloyd's Register Foundation World Risk Poll. <u>https://wrp.lrfoundation.org.uk/2019-world-risk-poll/the-majority-of-people-around-the-world-are-concerned-about-climate-change/</u> (19.05.2024)
- Lohmann, P. M., Gsottbauer, E., van der Linden, S., & Kontoleon, A. (2024). Chilling results: how explicit warm glow appeals fail to boost pro-environmental behaviour. *Behavioural Public Policy*, 1-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2024.4</u>
- Lõhmus M. (2018). Possible Biological Mechanisms Linking Mental Health and Heat-A Contemplative Review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(7), 1515. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15071515</u>
- Lozano Nasi, V., Jans, L., & Steg, L. (2023). Do I Perceive That We as a Community Can Persist, Adapt Flexibly, and Positively Transform? The Relationship between Collective Transilience and Community-based Adaptation. <u>https://doi.org/10.</u>23668/psycharchives.13163
- Lozano, R. (2022). Organisational Change Management for Sustainability. In: Toward Sustainable Organisations. *Strategies for Sustainability*. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-99676-55</u>
- Macias, T., & Williams, K. (2014). Know your neighbors, save the planet. *Environment and Behavior, 48*(3), 391–420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916514540458</u>
- Maibach, E., Leiserowitz, A., Roser-Renouf, C., & Mertz, C. K. (2011). Identifying Like-Minded Audiences for Global Warming Public Engagement Campaigns: An audience segmentation analysis and tool development. *PloS One*, *6*(3), e17571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017571</u>
- Majumdar, R., & Weber, E. U. (2023). Multilevel intergroup conflict at the core of climate (in)justice: Psychological challenges and ways forward. *WIREs Climate Change*, *14*(5), e836. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.836</u>
- Marczak, M., Winkowska, M., Chaton-Østlie, K., Rios, R. M., & Klöckner, C. A. (2023). "When I say I'm depressed, it's like anger." An exploration of the emotional landscape of climate change concern in Norway and its psychological, social and political implications. *Emotion, Space and Society, 46*, 100939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emospa.2023.100939
- Mazar, A., Tomaino, G., Carmon, Z., & Wood, W. (2021). Habits to save our habitat: Using the psychology of habits to promote sustainability. *Behavioral Science & Policy*, 7(2), 75-89.
- Mebane, M. E., Benedetti, M., Barni, D., & Francescato, D. (2023). Promoting climate change awareness with high school students for a sustainable community. *Sustainability*, *15*(14), 11260.
- Miller, G. (2021). Negative emotional appeals: The effectiveness of fear and guilt communicative appeals on individuals pro-environmental behaviour and environmental concern to microplastic pollution. *The Plymouth Student Scientist*, *14*(1), 600-620. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10026.1/17319</u>
- Mkono, M., & Hughes, K. (2020). Eco-guilt and eco-shame in tourism consumption contexts: Understanding the triggers and responses. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 28*(8), 1223-1244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1730388</u>
- Moser, S., & Dilling, L. (2007). Toward the social tipping point. In *Creating a Climate for Change: Communicating Climate Change and Facilitating Social Change*. Cambridge University Press.
- Mourougan, M., Tiwari, A., Limaye, V., Matzarakis, A., Singh, A., Ghosh, U., Pal, D., & Lahariya, C. (2024). Heat Stress in India: A Review. *Preventive Medicine: Research & Reviews, 1,* 140–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/PMRR.PMRR_100_23</u>

- Moxey, A., O'Connell, D., McGettigan, P., & Henry, D. (2003). Describing Treatment Effects to Patients: How They Are Expressed Makes a Difference. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *18*(11), 948–959. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2003.20928.x</u>
- Musikanski, L., Rakova, B., Bradbury, J., Phillips, R., & Manson, M. (2020). Artificial intelligence and community Well-being: a proposal for an emerging area of research. *International Journal of Community Well-Being*, *3*(1), 39–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42413-019-00054-6</u>
- Neckel, S., & Hasenfratz, M. (2021). Climate emotions and emotional climates: the emotional map of ecological crises and the blind spots on our sociological landscapes. *Social Science Information, 60*(2), 253-271. https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018421996264
- Nielsen, K. S., Clayton, S., Stern, P. C., Dietz, T., Capstick, S., & Whitmarsh, L. (2021). How psychology can help limit climate change. *American Psychologist*, *76*(1), 130–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000624</u>
- Nielsen, K. S., Cologna, V., Lange, F., Brick, C., & Stern, P. C. (2021). The case for impact-focused environmental psychology. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 74, 101559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2021.101559
- Nisbet, M. C. (2009). Framing Science: A New Paradigm in Public Engagement. In *Communicating Science*. Routledge.
- O'Brien, K., & Sygna, L. (2013). Responding to climate change: the three spheres of transformation. *Proceedings of Transformation in a Changing Climate, 16,* 23.
- O'Mahony, T. (2022). Toward Sustainable Wellbeing: Advances in contemporary concepts. *Frontiers in Sustainability, 3*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/frsus.2022.807984</u>
- Ogunbode, C. A., Doran, R., Hanss, D., Ojala, M., Salmela-Aro, K., van den Broek, K. L., ... Karasu, M. (2022). Climate anxiety, wellbeing and pro-environmental action: Correlates of negative emotional responses to climate change in 32 countries. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 84*, 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2022.101887</u>
- Ogunbode, C. A., Pallesen, S., Böhm, G., Doran, R., Bhullar, N., Aquino, S. D., Marot, T. A., Schermer, J. A., Włodarczyk, A., Lu, S., Jiang, F., Salmela-Aro, K., Hanss, D., Maran, D. A., Ardi, R., Chegeni, R., Tahir, H., Ghanbarian, E., Park, J., ... Lomas, M. J. (2021). Negative emotions about climate change are related to insomnia symptoms and mental health: Cross-sectional evidence from 25 countries. *Current Psychology*, *42*(2), 845–854. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01385-4</u>
- Ojala, M. (2013). Coping with Climate Change among Adolescents: Implications for Subjective Well-Being and Environmental Engagement. *Sustainability*, *5*(5), Art. 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su5052191</u>
- Ojala, M. (2015). Hope in the face of climate change: Associations with environmental engagement and student perceptions of teachers' emotion communication style and future orientation. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, *46*(3), 133–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2015.1021662</u>
- Ojala, M. (2023). Climate-change education and critical emotional awareness (CEA): Implications for teacher education. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *55*(10), 1109–1120. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2022.2081150
- O'neill, S., & Nicholson-Cole, S. (2009). "Fear won't do it" promoting positive engagement with climate change through visual and iconic representations. *Science Communication*, *30*(3), 355-379.
- Osborne, N., & Carlson, A. (2023). Against a nation state of emergency: how climate emergency politics can undermine climate justice. *npj Climate Action*, *2*(1), 46.
- Otto, I. M., Donges, J. F., Cremades, R., Bhowmik, A., Hewitt, R. J., Lucht, W., Rockström, J., Allerberger, F., McCaffrey, M., Doe, S. S. P., Lenferna, A., Morán, N., Vuuren, D. P. van, & Schellnhuber, H. J. (2020). Social tipping dynamics for stabilizing Earth's climate by 2050. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117*(5), 2354–2365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1900577117</u>
- Padhy, S. K., Sarkar, S., Panigrahi, M., & Paul, S. (2015). Mental health effects of climate change. *Indian Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *19*(1), 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5278.156997</u>
- Page, A. N., & Fragar, L. J. (2002). Suicide in Australian farming, 1988–1997. *Australian & New Zealand Journal* of Psychiatry, 36(1), 81-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1614.2002.00975.x</u>
- Parker, I. (2007). Revolution in psychology: Alienation to emancipation. Pluto Press.

- Passyn, K., & Sujan, M. (2006). Self-Accountability Emotions and fear appeals: Motivating behavior. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 32(4), 583–589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/500488</u>
- Patrick, R., Henderson-Wilson, C., & Ebden, M. (2022). Exploring the co-benefits of environmental volunteering for human and planetary health promotion. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia, 33*(1), 57-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.460</u>
- Pelletier, L. G., & Sharp, E. (2008). Persuasive communication and proenvironmental behaviours: How message tailoring and message framing can improve the integration of behaviours through self-determined motivation. *Canadian Psychology / Psychologie Canadienne, 49*(3), 210–217. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012755
- Perry, G. L. W., et al. (2021). Evaluating the Role of Social Norms in Fostering Pro-Environmental Behaviors. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 9, Article 620125. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2021.620125</u>
- Pihkala, P. (2020). The Cost of Bearing Witness to the Environmental Crisis: Vicarious Traumatization and Dealing with Secondary Traumatic Stress among Environmental Researchers. *Social Epistemology*, 34(1), 86-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02691728.2019.1681560</u>
- Pihkala, P. (2022). Toward a taxonomy of climate emotions. *Frontiers in Climate, 3*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2021.738154
- Pile, S. (2010). Emotions and affect in recent human geography. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers/Transactions Institute of British Geographers, 35*(1), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-5661.2009.00368.x
- Rees, J., Klug, S., & Bamberg, S. (2014). Guilty conscience: motivating pro-environmental behavior by inducing negative moral emotions. *Climatic Change*, 130(3), 439–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-014-1278-</u>
 <u>X</u>
- Reinhart, R. (2022, Juli 21). *Before Record Heat, EU and UK Tepid on Environment Efforts*. *Gallup.Com*. <u>https://news.gallup.com/poll/394907/record-heat-tepid-environment-efforts.aspx</u> (19.05.2024)
- Riley, S., Evans, A., & Robson, M. (2019). *Postfeminism and health: Critical psychology and media perspectives* (p. 212). Taylor & Francis.
- Robertson, S. (2021). Transparency, trust, and integrated assessment models: An ethical consideration for the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Climate Change*, 12(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.679</u>
- Röhrle, B. (2024). Community psychological perspectives on climate change. In Consiglio Nazionale Ordine Psicologi (CNOP) (ed.) *The psychology today, climate crisis and environmental future issues, CNOP, Rome (in press).*
- Rootes, C., Zito, A. R., & Barry, J. (2012). Climate change, national politics and grassroots action: an introduction. *Environmental Politics*, 21(5), 677–690. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2012.720098</u>
- Ross, L., Greene, D., & House, P. (1977). The "false consensus effect": An egocentric bias in social perception and attribution processes. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *13*(3), 279–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1031(77)90049-x</u>
- Ruepert, A., Steg, L., & Keizer, K. (2015). Theoretical basis for organizational Pro-Environmental Research. In Oxford University Press (pp. 33–57). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199997480.003.0003</u>
- Russell, S. V., & Ashkanasy, N. M. (2021). Pulling on heartstrings: three studies of the effectiveness of emotionally framed communication to encourage workplace pro-environmental behavior. *Sustainability*, 13(18), 10161. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su131810161</u>
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2001). On Happiness and Human Potentials: A review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 141–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141</u>
- Sabherwal, A., Pearson, A. R., & Sparkman, G. (2021). Anger consensus messaging can enhance expectations for collective action and support for climate mitigation. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *76*, 101640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2021.101640</u>
- Sampath, H., Soohinda, G., Sharma, A., & Dutta, S. (2018). Media exposure to earthquake-related content in its aftermath as a risk factor for acute stress disorder. *Open Journal of Psychiatry & Allied Sciences*, 9(2), 152. <u>https://doi.org/10.5958/2394-2061.2018.00032.0</u>

Sanson, A., & Masten, A. S. (2023). Climate change and resilience: Developmental science perspectives. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 48(2), 93–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01650254231186332</u>

- Sanson, A., Van Hoorn, J., & Burke, S. E. L. (2019). Responding to the Impacts of the Climate Crisis on Children and Youth. *Child Development Perspectives*, *13*(4), 201–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12342</u>
- Sarra, A., Mazzocchitti, M., & Nissi, E. (2020). A methodological proposal to determine the optimal levels of inter-municipal cooperation in the organization of solid waste management systems. Waste Management, 115, 56–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2020.07.024</u>
- Sarrina Li, S. C., & Huang, L. M. S. (2020). Fear appeals, information processing, and behavioral intentions toward climate change. Asian Journal of Communication, 30(3-4), 242-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2020.1784967</u>
- Schubert, C. (2017). Green nudges: Do they work? Are they ethical? *Ecological Economics*, 132, 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.11.009
- Shipley, N. J., & Van Riper, C. J. (2022). Pride and guilt predict pro-environmental behavior: A meta-analysis of correlational and experimental evidence. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 79, 101753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2021.101753</u>
- Shome, D., & Marx, S. M. (2009). The Psychology of Climate Change Communication: A Guide for Scientists, Journalists, Educators, Political Aides, and the Interested Public.<u>https://doi.org/10.7916/d8-byzb-0s23</u>
- Siegmar, O., Kaiser, F. G. & Arnold O. (2014). The Critical Challenge of Climate Change for Psychology. *European Psychologist*, *19*(2), 96-106
- Sparkman, G., Geiger, N., & Weber, E. U. (2022). Americans experience a false social reality by underestimating popular climate policy support by nearly half. *Nature Communications, 13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32412-y
- Stadelmann-Steffen, I., Eder, C., Harring, N., Spilker, G., & Katsanidou, A. (2021). A framework for social tipping in climate change mitigation: What we can learn about social tipping dynamics from the chlorofluorocarbons phase-out. *Energy Research & Social Science, 82*, 102307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2021.102307</u>
- Staiger, J., Cvetkovich, A., & Reynolds, A. M. (Eds.). (2010). Political emotions. Routledge.
- Stanley, S. K., Hogg, T. L., Leviston, Z. & Walker, I. (2021). From anger to action: Differential impact of ecoanxiety, eco-depression, and eco-anger on climate action and well-being. *The Journal of Climate Change* and Health. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joclim.2021.100003</u>
- Stanley, S., Leviston, Z., Hogg, T., & Walker, I. (2023). Anger about climate inaction: The content of eco-anger shapes emotional and behavioral engagement with climate change. *PsyArXiv*. <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/juc67</u>
- Steffen, W., Rockström, J., Richardson, K., Lenton, T. M., Folke, C., Liverman, D., Summerhayes, C. P., Barnosky, A. D., Cornell, S. E., Crucifix, M., Donges, J. F., Fetzer, I., Lade, S. J., Scheffer, M., Winkelmann, R., & Schellnhuber, H. J. (2018). Trajectories of the Earth System in the Anthropocene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(33), 8252–8259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1810141115</u>
- Steg, L. (2023). Psychology of climate change. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 74(1), 391–421. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-032720-042905
- Stern, P. C. (2011). Contributions of psychology to limiting climate change. *American Psychologist, 66*(4), 303–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023235</u>
- Stern, P. C., & Dietz, T. (1994). The value basis of environmental concern. *Journal of Social Issues, 50*(3), 65–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1994.tb02420.x
- Stoddard, I., Anderson, K., Capstick, S., Carton, W., Depledge, J., Facer, K., Gough, C., Hache, F., Hoolohan, C., Hultman, M., Hällström, N., Kartha, S., Klinsky, S., Kuchler, M., Lövbrand, E., Nasiritousi, N., Newell, P., Peters, G. P., Sokona, Y., ... Williams, M. (2021). Three decades of climate mitigation: Why haven't we bent the global emissions curve? *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *46*(1), 653–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012220-011104</u>
- Stoknes, P. E., & Rockström, J. (2018). Redefining green growth within planetary boundaries. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 44, 41-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.04.030</u>

- Taufik, D., & Venhoeven, L. (2018). Emotions and Pro-Environmental Behaviour. *Environmental Psychology: An Introduction*, 189-197.
- Taufik, D., Bolderdijk, J. W., & Steg, L. (2014). Acting green elicits a literal warm glow. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(1), 37–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2449</u>
- Thomas, G. O., Sautkina, E., Poortinga, W., Wolstenholme, E., & Whitmarsh, L. (2019). The English Plastic Bag charge changed behavior and increased support for other charges to reduce plastic waste. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.0026</u>
- Thompson, R., Hornigold, R., Page, L., & Waite, T. (2018). Associations between high ambient temperatures and heat waves with mental health outcomes: a systematic review. *Public health*, *161*, 171-191.
- United Nations (2023). Co-Creating a Resilient Future: Multiple and Disaggregated Impacts Climate Change and Mental Health Series (<u>https://cris.unu.edu/co-creating-resilient-future-multiple-and-disaggregatedimpacts-climate-change-and-mental-health</u>)
- United Nations (2023). Co-Creating a Resilient Future: Risk Factors, Vulnerabilities and Inequalities Climate Change and Mental Health Series (<u>https://cris.unu.edu/co-creating-resilient-future-risk-factors-vulnerabilities-and-inequalities-climate-change-and-mental</u>)
- United Nations (2023). Co-Creating a Resilient Future: Opportunities, Solutions and Future Generations -Climate Change and Mental Health Series (<u>https://cris.unu.edu/co-creating-resilient-future-opportunities-solutions-and-future-generations</u>)
- Uzzell, D. (2008). Challenging assumptions in the psychology of climate change. *InPsych: The Bulletin of the Australian Psychological Society*, *30*(4), 10-13.
- Van Der Werff, E., Steg, L., & Ruepert, A. (2021). My company is green, so am I: the relationship between perceived environmental responsibility of organisations and government, environmental self-identity, and pro-environmental behaviours. *Energy Efficiency*, *14*(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12053-021-09958-9</u>
- van Susteren, L., & Al-Delaimy, W. K. (2020). Psychological Impacts of Climate Change and Recommendations. In W. K. Al-Delaimy, V. Ramanathan, & M. Sánchez Sorondo (Hrsg.), *Health of People, Health of Planet* and Our Responsibility: Climate Change, Air Pollution and Health (S. 177–192). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31125-4_14</u>
- van Zomeren, M., Leach, C. W., & Spears, R. (2012). Protesters as "Passionate Economists": A dynamic dual pathway model of approach coping with collective disadvantage. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 16(2), 180–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868311430835</u>
- van Zomeren, M., Postmes, T., & Spears, R. (2008). Toward an integrative social identity model of collective action: A quantitative research synthesis of three socio-psychological perspectives. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(4), 504–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.4.504</u>
- Vansteenkiste, M., Lens, W., & Deci, E. L. (2006). Intrinsic versus extrinsic goal contents in self-determination theory: Another look at the quality of academic motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 41(1), 19–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep4101_4</u>
- Vansteenkiste, M., Simons, J., Lens, W., Soenens, B., Matos, L., & Lacante, M. (2004). Less is sometimes more: Goal content matters. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *96*(4), 755–764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.96.4.755</u>
- Verplanken, B. (2012). When bittersweet turns sour: Adverse effects of nostalgia on habitual worriers. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 42(3), 285–289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.1852</u>
- Voşki, A., Wong-Parodi, G., & Ardoin, N. M. (2023). A new planetary affective science framework for ecoemotions: Findings on eco-anger, eco-grief, and eco-anxiety. *Global Environmental Psychology*, 1, Article e11465. <u>https://doi.org/10.5964/gep.11465</u>
- Wang, B., Zeng, D., & Yang, B. (2021). Decomposing peer effects in pro-environmental behaviour: Evidence from a Chinese nationwide survey. *Journal of Environmental Management, 295*, 113100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113100</u>
- Wang, J., Gu, Y., Xin, H., & Wang, X. (2022). Influence of appeal type and message framing on residents' intent to engage in Pro-Environmental behavior. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(23), 15431. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315431</u>

- Weintrobe, S. (Ed.). (2013). *Engaging with climate change: Psychoanalytic and interdisciplinary perspectives*. Routledge.
- White, B. P., Breakey, S., Brown, M. J., Smith, J. R., Tarbet, A., Nicholas, P. K., & Ros, A. M. V. (2023). Mental Health Impacts of Climate Change Among Vulnerable Populations Globally: An Integrative Review. *Annals of Global Health*, 89(1), 66. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.4105</u>
- Whitmarsh, L. (2021). To get to net-zero, we need some behavioural changes. A psychologist looks at the challenge. *World Economic Forum*, 1-6. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/06/net-zero-psychology-behavior-change-environment/.
- Wilson, R. S., Herziger, A., Hamilton, M., & Brooks, J. S. (2020). From incremental to transformative adaptation in individual responses to climate-exacerbated hazards. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(3), Article 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0691-6</u>
- Witte, K., & Allen, M. (2000). A Meta-Analysis of Fear Appeals: Implications for Effective Public Health Campaigns. *Health Education & Behavior*, 27(5), 591–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/109019810002700506</u>
- Wolsko, C., Ariceaga, H., & Seiden, J. (2016). Red, white, and blue enough to be green: Effects of moral framing on climate change attitudes and conservation behaviors. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 65*, 7–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2016.02.005</u>
- World Economic Forum. (2022). *The global risks report 2022*. 17th edition. Insight Report (16th Aufl.). World Economic Forum (WEF). <u>https://wef.ch/risks22 (19.05.2024)</u>
- World Health Organization (2022). Mental health and climate change: policy brief. (<u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/354104/9789240045125-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>)
- Wullenkord, M. C., & Hamann, K. R. S. (2021). We Need to Change: Integrating Psychological Perspectives Into the Multilevel Perspective on Socio-Ecological Transformations. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1266. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.655352</u>
- Wullenkord, M. C., Johansson, M., Loy, L. S., Menzel, C., & Reese, G. (2024). Go out or stress out? Exploring nature connectedness and cumulative stressors as resilience and vulnerability factors in different manifestations of climate anxiety. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 95*, 102278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2024.102278</u>
- York, R., & McGee, J. A. (2016). Understanding the Jevons paradox. Environmental Sociology, 2(1), 77-87.
- Zawadzki, S. J., Steg, L., & Bouman, T. (2020). Meta-analytic evidence for a robust and positive association between individuals' pro-environmental behaviors and their subjective well-being. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15(12), 123007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abc4ae</u>
- Zhang, J., Liu, X., & Ballas, D. (2023). Spatial and relational peer effects on environmental behavioral imitation. *Environmental Economics and Policy Studies, 25*(4), 575–599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10018-023-00371-3</u>

First published 28 June 2024 by the European Federation of Psychologists' Associations EFPA AISBL,

Rue Marché aux Herbes 105/39, B- 1000 Bruxelles, Belgique. https://www.efpa.eu/

Editorial team: Weronika Kałwak, Bjørn Ekelund, Nicola Gale, Felix Peter, Sara Wortelboer

List of contributors: Csilla Ágoston-Kostyál, Eric Alderhorn, Nicholas Carr, Bjørn Ekelund, Nicola Gale, Weronika Kałwak, Tiago Pereira, Felix Peter, Attila Varga, Sara Wortelboer

The paper in this form has not yet been accepted for publication in any academic journal.

https://doi.org/10.

© 2024 European Federation of Psychologists' Associations EFPA AISBL. This work is openly licensed via <u>CC BY-SA 4.0</u>. To view a copy of this licence, see <u>CC BY-SA 4.0 Deed | Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0</u> <u>International | Creative Commons</u>.

The images or other third party material included in this paper are included in the paper's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the paper's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

Every effort has been made to trace copyright holders and to obtain their permission for the use of copyright material. EFPA apologizes for any errors or omissions and would be grateful to be notified of any corrections that should be incorporated in future reprints or editions of this paper.

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors in their capacity as EFPA's Expert Reference Group for Psychology and Climate Change and do not necessarily reflect the views of EFPA AISBL.

Printed by EFPA AISBL.